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Overview

Net revenue $ 3,464 M + 7 %

Operating income ( EBIT) $ 493 M – 2 %

Net income1 $ 225 M – 39 %2

Earnings per ordinary share $ 0.74 – 40 %2

1 Attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.
2 The corresponding number for the first quarter of 2012 includes an investment gain of $127 M.

revenue 

Net revenue for the first quarter of 2013 increased by 7 % to $ 3,464 M (+ 7 % at constant currency) compared to 
the first quarter of 2012. Organic revenue growth worldwide was 4 %. Dialysis services revenue grew by 8 % to 
$ 2,678 M (+ 9 % at constant currency) and dialysis product revenue increased by 2 % to $ 786 M (+ 2 % at constant 
currency). 

North America revenue for the first quarter of 2013 increased by 9 % to $ 2,287 M. Dialysis services revenue 
grew by 10 % to $ 2,104 M with a same store treatment growth of 4 %. Average revenue per treatment for U. S. 
services increased to $ 359 in the first quarter of 2013 compared to $ 353 for the corresponding quarter in 2012. 
Dialysis product revenue decreased by 2 % to $ 183 M. 

International revenue increased by 3 % to $ 1,169 M (+ 4 % at constant currency). Organic revenue growth was 
5 %. Dialysis services revenue increased by 3 % to $ 574 M (+ 5 % at constant currency). Dialysis product revenue 
increased by 3 % to $ 595 M (+ 3 % at constant currency). 

earnings

Operating income (EBIT) for the first quarter of 2013 decreased by 2 % to $ 493 M compared to $ 503 M in the 
first quarter of 2012. This resulted in an operating margin of 14.2 % for the first quarter of 2013 as compared to 
15.5 % for the corresponding quarter in 2012. 

The operating margin for North America decreased from 16.5 % to 16.1 %. This development was impacted by 
higher personnel expenses and two less dialysis days in the first quarter of 2013 as compared to the first 
 quarter of 2012. Average costs per treatment for U. S. services increased to $ 294 in the first quarter of 2013 as 
 compared to $ 286 in the first quarter of 2012. 

In the International segment, the operating margin decreased from 17.2 % to 15.7 %. The margin development 
was negatively influenced mainly by the devaluation of the Venezuelan Bolivar.

Net interest expense for the first quarter of 2013 was $ 104 M, compared to $ 99 M in the first quarter of 2012. 
This development was positively influenced by lower interest rates but offset by lower interest income as a 
result of the retirement of a loan associated with the acquisition of Liberty Dialysis Holdings, Inc. 

t.  1 Summary first quarter 2013
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Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA for the first quarter of 2013 
was $ 225 M, a decrease of 39 % compared to the corresponding number for the first quarter of 2012. Net 
 income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA decreased by 8 % in the first 
quarter of 2013 if compared to the adjusted net income number of $ 244 M for the first quarter of 2012 exclud-
ing an investment gain of $ 127 M.

Income tax expense was $ 129 M for the first quarter of 2013 and translating into an effective tax rate of 33.2 %. 
This compares to income tax expense of $ 137 M and a tax rate of 25.8 % and, excluding the investment gain, 
an adjusted effective tax rate of 33.9 % for the first quarter of 2012.

Earnings per ordinary share (EPS) for the first quarter of 2013 was $ 0.74, a decrease of 40 % compared to the 
corresponding number for the first quarter of 2012. EPS decreased by 8 % in the first quarter of 2013 if com-
pared to an adjusted EPS number of $ 0.80, excluding the investment gain, for the first quarter of 2012. The 
weighted average number of shares outstanding for the first quarter of 2013 was approximately 306.7 M shares, 
compared to 304.2 M shares for the first quarter of 2012. The increase in shares outstanding resulted from 
stock option exercises in the past twelve months. 

cash flow 

In the first quarter of 2013, the company generated $ 315 M in cash from operations, a decrease of 34 % com-
pared to the corresponding figure of last year and representing 9.1 % of revenue. 

A total of $ 146 M was spent for capital expenditures, net of disposals. Free cash flow before acquisitions was 
$ 169 M (representing 4.9 % of revenue) compared to $ 359 M in the first quarter of 2012. A total of $ 71 M in cash 
was spent for acquisitions and investments, net of divestitures. Free cash flow after acquisitions and dives-
titures was $ 98 M, compared to minus $ 1,167 M in the first quarter of 2012.

patients – clinics – treatments 

As of March 31, 2013, Fresenius Medical Care treated 261,648 patients worldwide, which represents an in-
crease of 3 % compared to the previous year’s figure. North America provided dialysis treatments for 167,233 
patients, an increase of 3 % compared to the corresponding number for 2012. The International segment 
provided  dialysis treatments for 94,415 patients, an increase of 3 % over the prior year’s figure. 

As of March 31, 2013, the company operated a total of 3,180 clinics worldwide, an increase of 2 % compared 
to the corresponding number for 2012. The number of clinics is comprised of 2,090 clinics in North America 
(+ 2 %) and 1,090 clinics in the International segment (+ 2 %). 

During the first quarter of 2013, Fresenius Medical Care delivered approximately 9.7 M dialysis treatments 
worldwide. This represents an increase of 5 % compared to the previous year’s figure. North America  accounted 
for 6.1 M treatments, an increase of 7 %. The International segment delivered 3.5 M treatments, an increase of 
2 %. 

employees 

As of March 31, 2013, Fresenius Medical Care had 86,855 employees (full-time equivalents) worldwide, com-
pared to 86,153 employees at the end of 2012. 
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deBt / eBitda ratio 

The ratio of debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) decreased from 
2.96 at the end of the first quarter of 2012 to 2.78 at the end of the first quarter of 2013. The debt / EBITDA ratio 
at the end of 2012 was 2.83.

rating 

Standard & Poor’s rates the company’s corporate credit as ‘BB+’, with a ‘positive’ outlook. Moody’s rates the 
company’s corporate credit as ‘Ba1’ with a ‘stable’ outlook. Fitch rates the company’s corporate credit as ‘BB+’ 
with a ‘stable’ outlook. 

share Buy-Back program and simplification of capital structure

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board have approved a share buy-back program with an aggre-
gate value of up to €385 M. The program will be financed from cash flow and existing credit facilities. 

The boards also approved a proposal to optimize the organization’s capital structure by the mandatory con-
version of all preference shares into ordinary shares on a 1:1 basis. The preference shares currently represent 
approximately 1.3 % of the company’s total share capital. At its upcoming annual general meeting and in a 
separate meeting of preference shareholders the company will ask its shareholders to approve this conversion.

guidance for 2013 confirmed

For the full year 2013, the company confirms its revenue and earnings outlook. 

The company expects revenue to grow to more than $ 14.6 BN in 2013, translating into a growth rate of more 
than 6 %. 

Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA is expected to be between 
$ 1.1 BN and $ 1.2 BN in 2013. This represents an increase of between 5 % and 15 % if compared to the net income 
attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA for 2012 excluding an investment gain 
in the amount of $ 140 M. As we previously disclosed, the range of our net income guidance considers the U. S. 
government reversing the effect of sequestration for the calendar year. If this takes place it represents approx-
imately $ 45 M in net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA. It is possi-
ble that the U. S. government may modify all or a portion of this but the likelihood of this diminishes as the 
year progresses.

For 2013, the company expects to spend around $ 700 M on capital expenditures and around $ 300 M on acqui-
sitions. The debt / EBITDA ratio is expected to be equal or below 3.0 by the end of 2013.
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Interim Financial Report

financial condition and results of operations 

You should read the following discussion and analysis of the results of operations of Fresenius Medical 
Care AG & Co. KGaA (“FMC AG & CO. KGAA“ or the “Company“) and its subsidiaries in conjunction with our 
 unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes contained elsewhere in this report and our 
disclosures and discussions in our Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2012. In this  report, 

“FMC AG & CO. KGAA,” or the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refers to the Company or the Company and its 
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as the context requires. The term “North America Segment”  refers to our 
North America operating segment and the term “International Segment” refers to our combined Interna-
tional and Asia-Pacific operating segments.

Forward-looking Statements 
This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, and Section 21 E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. When used in this 
report, the words “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates” and similar 
expressions are generally intended to identify forward looking statements. Although we believe that the 
 expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, forward-looking statements are 
inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which cannot be predicted with accuracy and some of 
which might not even be anticipated, and future events and actual results, financial and otherwise, could 
differ materially from those set forth in or contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained else-
where in this report. We have based these forward-looking statements on current estimates and assumptions 
made to the best of our knowledge. By their nature, such forward-looking statements involve risks, uncer-
tainties, assumptions and other factors which could cause actual results, including our financial condition and 
profitability, to differ materially and be more negative than the results expressly or implicitly described in or 
suggested by these statements. Moreover, forward-looking estimates or predictions derived from third  parties’ 
studies or information may prove to be inaccurate. Consequently, we cannot give any assurance regarding 
the future accuracy of the opinions set forth in this report or the actual occurrence of the developments 
 described herein. In addition, even if our future results meet the expectations expressed here, those results 
may not be indicative of our performance in future periods.

These risks, uncertainties, assumptions, and other factors that could cause actual results to differ from our 
projected results include, among others, the following: 

 changes in governmental and commercial insurer reimbursement for our complete products and services 
portfolio, including the expanded United States (“U. S.”) Medicare reimbursement system for dialysis  services;

 changes in utilization patterns for pharmaceuticals and in our costs of purchasing pharmaceuticals;
 the outcome of ongoing government and internal investigations;
 risks relating to compliance with the myriad government regulations applicable to our business including, in 
the U. S., the Anti-Kickback Statute, the False Claims Act, the Stark Law and the Foreign Corrupt Practices 
Act, and comparable regulatory regimes in many of the 120 countries in which we supply dialysis services 
and / or products;

 the influence of private insurers and managed care organizations;
 the impact of recently enacted and possible future health care reforms;
 product liability risks;
 the outcome of ongoing potentially material litigation;
 risks relating to the integration of acquisitions and our dependence on additional acquisitions;
 the impact of currency fluctuations;
 introduction of generic or new pharmaceuticals that compete with our pharmaceutical products;
 changes in raw material and energy costs or the ability to procure raw materials; as well as
 the financial stability and liquidity of our governmental and commercial payors.
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Important factors that could contribute to such differences are noted in the “Overview” section below and in 
Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited), “Commitments and Contingencies” 
included in this report and in our Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2012, under “Risk Factors” 
and elsewhere in that report.

Our business is also subject to other risks and uncertainties that we describe from time to time in our public 
filings. Developments in any of these areas could cause our results to differ materially from the results that 
we or others have projected or may project.

Our reported financial condition and results of operations are sensitive to accounting methods, assumptions 
and estimates that are the basis of our financial statements. The actual accounting policies, the judgments 
made in the selection and application of these policies and the sensitivities of reported results to changes in 
accounting policies, assumptions and estimates, are factors to be considered along with our financial state-
ments and the discussion under “Results of Operations” below. For a discussion of our critical accounting 
policies, see chpter 1.1, “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects – Critical Accounting Policies” in our Fi-
nancial Report of our Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Overview 
We are engaged primarily in providing dialysis services and manufacturing and distributing products and 
equipment for the treatment of End-Stage Renal Disease (ESRD). Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. (FMCH), 
located in the United States and our largest subsidiary, also provides laboratory testing services, pharmacy 
services, vascular surgery services and inpatient dialysis services as well as other services under contract to 
hospitals. We estimate that providing dialysis services and distributing dialysis products and equipment 
 represents a worldwide market of approximately $ 75 BN with expected annual worldwide market growth of 
around 4 %, adjusted for currency. Patient growth results from factors such as the aging population and 
 increased life expectancies; shortage of donor organs for kidney transplants; increasing incidence and better 
treatment of and survival of patients with diabetes and hypertension, which frequently precede the onset of 
ESRD; improvements in treatment quality, which prolong patient life; and improving standards of living in 
developing countries, which make life-saving dialysis treatment available. Key to continued growth in  revenue 
is our ability to attract new patients in order to increase the number of treatments performed each year. For 
that reason, we believe the number of treatments performed each year is a strong indicator of continued 
revenue growth and success. In addition, the reimbursement and ancillary services utilization environment 
significantly influences our business. With the exception of the implementation of the ESRD prospective pay-
ment system (ESRD PPS) in the U. S. in January 2011, and possible adjustments to this payment system for 
changes in the utilization and costs of certain drugs and biologicals included in the ESRD PPS; we experienced 
and also expect in the future to experience generally stable reimbursements for dialysis services. See discus-
sion of the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (ATRA) below. This includes the balancing of unfavorable 
 reimbursement changes in certain countries with favorable changes in other countries. The majority of treat-
ments are paid for by governmental institutions such as Medicare in the United States. As a consequence of 
the pressure to decrease healthcare costs, reimbursement rate increases have historically been limited. Our 
ability to influence the pricing of our services is limited.

With the enactment in the U. S. of the Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act of 2008 (MIPPA) 
in 2008, Congress mandated the development of an expanded ESRD PPS for services furnished on or after 
 January 1, 2011. On July 26, 2010, the U. S. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) published a final 
rule implementing the ESRD PPS for ESRD dialysis facilities in accordance with MIPPA. Under the ESRD PPS, CMS 
reimburses dialysis facilities with a single payment for each dialysis treatment, inclusive of (i) all items and 
services included in the former composite rate, (ii) oral vitamin D analogues, oral levocarnitine (an amino acid 
derivative) and all erythropoietin stimulating agents (ESAs) and other pharmaceuticals (other than vaccines 
and certain other oral drugs) furnished to ESRD patients that were previously reimbursed separately under 
Part B of the Medicare program, (iii) most diagnostic laboratory tests and (iv) certain other items and services 
furnished to individuals for the treatment of ESRD. ESRD-related drugs with only an oral form, including our 
phosphate binder PhosLo®, are expected to be reimbursed under the ESRD PPS starting in January 2016 with an 
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adjusted payment amount to be determined by the Secretary of Health and Human Services to reflect the 
additional cost to dialysis facilities of providing these medications. The base ESRD PPS payment is subject to 
case mix adjustments that take into account individual patient characteristics (e. g., age, body surface area, 
body mass, time on dialysis) and certain co-morbidities. The base payment is also adjusted for (i) certain high 
cost patient outliers due to unusual variations in medically necessary care, (ii) disparately high costs incurred 
by low volume facilities relative to other facilities, (iii) provision of home dialysis training and (iv) wage-related 
costs in the geographic area in which the provider is located. 

The ESRD PPS is being phased in over four years with full implementation for all dialysis facilities on January 1, 
2014. As part of the base payment for 2011, CMS included a negative 3.1 % adjustment for each facility in order 
to ensure a budget-neutral transition, the “Transition Adjuster,” based on its estimation that only 43 % of 
 dialysis facilities would elect to participate fully in the ESRD PPS in 2011. In April 2011, however, CMS reduced the 
Transition Adjuster to 0.0 % for the remainder of 2011, based on the actual number of facilities that elected to 
fully participate in the ESRD PPS. CMS specified Transition Adjusters of 0.0 % for 2012 and 0.1 % in 2013.

The ESRD PPS payment amount is subject to annual adjustment based on increases in the costs of a “market 
basket” of certain healthcare items and services less a productivity adjustment. On November 9, 2012, CMS 
published a final rule finalizing the 2013 ESRD PPS rates. In the rule, CMS established the 2013 productivity 
 adjusted market basket update at 2.3 %, which was based on a market basket update of 2.9 % less a produc-
tivity adjustment of 0.6 %. Additionally, CMS set the 2013 wage index budget-neutrality adjusted base rate of 
$ 240.36 per treatment. 

The ESRD PPS’s quality incentive program (QIP) began affecting payments starting January 1, 2012. Dialysis facil-
ities that fail to achieve the established quality standards will have payments reduced by up to 2 %. Perfor-
mance on specified measures in 2010 affected payment in 2012; however, the impact on our operations was 
immaterial. In 2013 payments will be affected by performance with respect to measures in 2011. The initial QIP 
measures focused on anemia management and dialysis adequacy. For 2012 reporting affecting payments in 
2014, CMS adopted four additional measures (i) prevalence of catheter and A / V fistula use; (ii) reporting of 
 infections to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; (iii) administration of patient satisfaction sur-
veys; and (iv) monthly monitoring of phosphorus and calcium levels. For payment year 2015 and subsequent 
years, CMS has continued other of the existing QIP measures, expanded the scope of certain existing measures, 
and added new measures. The payment year 2015 clinical measures include anemia management, hyper-
calemia, vascular access type, hemodialysis adequacy (adult and pediatric patients) and peritoneal dialysis 
adequacy. The payment year 2015 reporting measures include patient satisfaction surveys, mineral metabolism 
reporting, anemia management reporting and infection reporting. 

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation 
Act of 2011 (collectively, ACA) implements broad healthcare system reforms, including (i) provisions to facilitate 
access to affordable health insurance for all Americans, (ii) expansion of the Medicaid program, (iii) an indus-
try fee on pharmaceutical companies that began in 2011 based on sales of brand name pharmaceuticals to 
government healthcare programs, (iv) a 2.3 % excise tax on manufacturers’ medical device sales starting in 
2013, (v) increases in Medicaid prescription drug rebates effective January 1, 2010, (vi) commercial insurance 
market reforms that protect consumers, such as bans on lifetime and annual limits, coverage of pre-existing 
conditions, limits on administrative costs, and limits on waiting periods, (vii) provisions encouraging inte-
grated care, efficiency and coordination among providers and (viii) provisions for reduction of healthcare 
program waste and fraud. ACA does not modify the dialysis reimbursement provisions of MIPPA, except to 
change the annual update provision by substituting a productivity adjustment to the market basket rate of 
increase for a MIPPA provision that specified a one percentage point reduction in the market basket rate of 
increase. ACA’s medical device excise tax, Medicaid drug rebate increases and annual pharmaceutical industry 
fees will adversely impact our product business earnings and cash flows. We expect modest favorable impact 
from ACA’s integrated care and commercial insurance consumer protection provisions.

8

f i r s t  Q u a r t e r  2 013 
i n t e r i m  f i n a n c i a l  r e p o r t

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



On August 2, 2011, the Budget Control Act was enacted, raising the U. S.’s debt ceiling and putting into effect 
a series of actions for deficit reduction. Pursuant to ATRA automatic across-the-board spending cuts over nine 
fiscal years (2013 – 2021), projected to total $ 1.2 TN for all U. S. Federal government programs became effective 
as of March 1, 2013 and were implemented on April 1, 2013 for CMS reimbursement to providers. The reduction 
in Medicare payments to providers and suppliers is limited to one adjustment of no more than 2 % through 
2021. The Medicare reimbursement reduction is independent of annual inflation update mechanisms, such as 
the market basket update pursuant to the ESRD PPS. ATRA also directed CMS to reduce the ESRD PPS payment 
rate, effective January 1, 2014, to account for changes in the utilization of certain drugs and biologicals that 
are included in the ESRD PPS. In making such reduction, the law requires CMS to use the most recently available 
pricing data for such drugs and biologicals. CMS is expected to release a proposed rule incorporating such 
calculations in spring or early summer 2013, with a final rule to follow later in the year.

The ESRD PPS resulted in a lower reimbursement rate on average at our U. S. dialysis facilities. We mitigated the 
impact of the ESRD PPS and the other legislative initiatives referenced above with two broad measures. First, 
we worked with medical directors and treating physicians to make clinical protocol changes used in treating 
patients consistent with the QIP and good clinical practices, and we negotiated pharmaceutical acquisition 
cost savings. In addition, we achieved greater efficiencies and better patient outcomes by introducing new 
initiatives to improve patient care upon initiation of dialysis, increase the percentage of patients using home 
therapies and achieve additional cost reductions in our clinics. 

On February 4, 2013, CMS announced plans to test a new Comprehensive ESRD Care Model and issued a solic-
itation for applications. As currently proposed, CMS will work with up to 15 healthcare provider groups, known 
as ESRD Seamless Care Organizations (ESCOS), to test a new system of payment and care delivery that seeks to 
deliver better health outcomes for ESRD patients while lowering CMS’s costs. ESCOs that achieve the program’s 
minimum quality thresholds and generate reductions in CMS’s cost of care above certain thresholds for the 
ESRD patients covered by the ESCO will receive a share of the cost savings. ESCOs that include dialysis chains 
with more than 200 facilities are required to share in the risk of cost increases and reimburse CMS a share of 
any such increases. Organizations must apply and be approved by CMS to participate in the program. The 
application deadline has been extended from May 1, 2013 to July 1, 2013. We are reviewing the details of the 
proposed program to determine whether to participate in this program.

Any significant decreases in Medicare reimbursement rates could have material adverse effects on our pro-
vider business and, because the demand for products is affected by Medicare reimbursement, on our prod-
ucts business. To the extent that increases in operating costs that are affected by inflation, such as labor and 
supply costs, are not fully reflected in a compensating increase in reimbursement rates, our business and 
 results of operations may be adversely affected.

We have identified three operating segments, the North America Segment, the International operating seg-
ment, and the Asia-Pacific operating segment, which were determined based upon how we manage our 
businesses. All segments are primarily engaged in providing dialysis care services and the distribution of 
products and equipment for the treatment of ESRD. For reporting purposes, we have aggregated the Inter-
national and Asia-Pacific operating segments as the “International Segment.” We aggregated these operating 
segments due to their similar economic characteristics. These characteristics include same services provided 
and same products sold, same type patient population, similar methods of distribution of products and ser-
vices and similar economic environments. Our General Partner’s management board member responsible for 
the profitability and cash flow of each segment’s various businesses supervises the management of each 
operating segment. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those we apply in preparing our 
consolidated financial statements under accounting principles generally accepted in the U. S. (U. S. GAAP).
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Our management evaluates each segment using a measure that reflects all of the segment’s controllable 
revenues and expenses. With respect to the performance of our business operations, our management  believes 
the most appropriate measure in this regard is operating income which measures our source of earnings. We 
do not include the investment gain resulting from our 2012 acquisition of Liberty Dialysis Holdings, Inc. (the 

“Liberty Acquisition”) nor income taxes as we believe these items to be outside the segments’ control. Financ-
ing is a corporate function which our segments do not control. Therefore, we do not include interest expense 
relating to financing as a segment measurement. Similarly, we do not allocate “corporate costs,” which relate 
primarily to certain headquarters overhead charges, including accounting and finance, professional services, 
etc., because we believe that these costs are also not within the control of the individual segments. Produc-
tion of products, production asset management, quality management and procurement are centrally man-
aged in corporate by our Global Manufacturing Operations division. These corporate activities do not fulfill 
the definition of a segment. Products are transferred to the segments at cost; therefore no internal profit is 
generated. The associated internal revenues for the product transfers and their elimination are recorded as 
corporate activities (see Note 14 of the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) “Segment 
 Information” found elsewhere in this report). Capital expenditures for production are based on the expected 
demand of the segments and consolidated profitability considerations. In addition, certain revenues,  investments 
and intangible assets, as well as any related expenses, are not allocated to a segment but are  accounted for 
as “Corporate.” Accordingly, all of these items are excluded from our analysis of segment results and are 
discussed below in the discussion of our consolidated results of operations. 
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Results of Operations 
The following tables summarize our financial performance and certain operating results by principal reporting 
segment and Corporate for the periods indicated. Inter-segment sales primarily reflect sales of medical equip-
ment and supplies. We prepared the information using a management approach, consistent with the basis 
and manner in which our management internally disaggregates financial information to assist in making 
 internal operating decisions and evaluating management performance.

Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012

total revenue

North America 2,288 2,108

International 1,169 1,136

Corporate 8 8

 Total 3,465 3,252

inter-segment revenue

North America 1 3

International – –

 Total 1 3

total net revenue

North America 2,287 2,105

International 1,169 1,136

Corporate 8 8

 Total 3,464 3,249

amortization and depreciation

North America 80 72

International 45 43

Corporate 32 28

 Total 157 143

operating income 

North America 369 348

International 184 195

Corporate (60) (40)

 Total 493 503

Investment gain – 127

Interest income 11 20

Interest expense (115) (119)

Income tax expense (129) (137)

Net income 260 394

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (35) (24)

 Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA 225 370

t.  2 Segment data
in $ M

11

f i r s t  Q u a r t e r  2 013 
i n t e r i m  f i n a n c i a l  r e p o r t

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



Three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to three months ended March 31, 2012.

Consolidated Financials

Three months ended March 31, Change

 
2013 2012 as reported

at constant 
 exchange rates 1

Number of treatments 9,681,510 9,212,646 5 % –

Same market treatment growth in % 3.3 3.8 – –

Net revenue in $ M 3,464 3,249 7 % 7 %

Gross profit in % of revenue 32.0 32.9 – –

Selling, general and administrative costs in % of revenue 17.1 17.0 – –

Net income attributable to shareholders  
of FMC AG & Co. KGaA in $ M 225 370 –39% –

1 For further information on “at constant exchange rates,” see “Non-U.S. GAAP Measures – Constant currency” below.

Treatments increased by 5 % for the first quarter of 2013 as compared to the same period in 2012. The increase 
is due to acquisitions (6 %), including the effect of the Liberty Acquisition (4 %) and same market treatment 
growth (3 %), partially offset by a decrease in dialysis treatment days (2 %) and the effect of closed or sold 
clinics (2 %).

At March 31, 2013, we owned, operated or managed (excluding those managed but not consolidated in the 
U. S.) 3,180 clinics compared to 3,119 clinics at March 31, 2012. During the first quarter of 2013, we acquired 
21 clinics, opened 15 clinics and combined or closed 16 clinics. The number of patients treated in clinics that 
we own, operate or manage (excluding patients of clinics managed but not consolidated in the U. S.)  increased 
by 3 % to 261,648 at March 31, 2013 from 253,041 at March 31, 2012.

Net revenue increased by 7 % (7 % at constant exchange rates) for the first quarter of 2013 over the comparable 
period in 2012, due to growth in dialysis care and product revenues.

Net dialysis care revenue increased by 8 % (9 % at constant exchange rates) to $ 2,678 M for the first quarter of 
2013 from $ 2,478 M in the same period of 2012, mainly due to contributions from acquisitions (7 %), growth in 
same market treatments (3 %) and increases in organic revenue per treatment (2 %), partially offset by a 
 decrease in the dialysis treatment days (2 %), the effect of closed or sold clinics (1 %) and the negative effect of 
exchange rate fluctuations (1 %).

Dialysis product revenue increased by 2 % (an increase of 2 % at constant exchange rates) to $ 786 M from $ 771 M 
in the same period of 2012. The increase at constant currency was driven by increased sales of hemodialysis 
products, especially of dialyzers, solutions and concentrates and bloodlines as well as products for acute care, 
partially offset by lower sales of renal pharmaceuticals. 

The decrease in gross profit margin reflects decreases in the International Segment and in the North America 
Segment. The decrease in the International Segment was mainly due to lower average sales price for products, 
reimbursement reductions as well as negative foreign exchange effects, partially offset by business growth in 
Asia Pacific. The decrease in the North America Segment was due to higher personnel expenses and the 
 impact from two less dialysis treatment days, partially offset by increased revenue from the 2013 Medicare 
reimbursement rate increase and a positive impact from the Liberty Acquisition. 

t.  3 Key indicators for Consolidated Fincancial Statements
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Selling, general and administrative (SG & A) expenses increased to $ 592 M in the first quarter of 2013 from 
$ 553 M in the same period of 2012. SG & A expenses as a percentage of revenues increased to 17.1 % for the first 
quarter of 2013 in comparison with 17.0 % during the same period of 2012 due to an increase at Corporate and 
a  decrease in the North America Segment, with the International Segment remaining largely unchanged. The 
increase at Corporate was mainly due to increased legal expenses. The decrease in the North America 
 Segment was largely driven by the effects of the one-time acquisition costs related to the Liberty Acquisition 
recorded in the first quarter of 2012, partially offset by higher personnel expenses and increased legal 
 expenses. The International Segment was mostly unchanged due to the devaluation of the Venezuelan 
 Bolivar driven by a hyperinflationary economy, offset by foreign exchange effects in other countries and 
 decreased bad debt expense. 

For the first three months of 2013, we had a $ 1 M gain from the sale of FMC AG & CO. KGAA dialysis clinics in our 
International Segment as compared to a $ 9 M gain from the sale of FMC AG & CO. KGAA clinics in connection 
with regulatory clearance of the Liberty Acquisition, which occurred in the first quarter of 2012. (See Note 2 of 
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) “Acquisition of Liberty Dialysis Holdings – 
 Divestitures” included in this report). 

Research and development (R & D) expenses increased slightly to $ 30 M for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 as 
compared to $ 29 M in the same period in 2012.

Income from equity method investees remained flat at $ 5 M as compared to the same period of 2012.

Operating income decreased to $ 493 M in the first quarter of 2013 from $ 503 M for the same period in 2012. 
Operating income margin decreased to 14.2 % for the first quarter of 2013 from 15.5 % for the same period in 
2012 as a result of a decrease in gross profit margin, a lower gain on the sale of FMC AG & CO. KGAA clinics and 
higher SG & A as a percentage of revenue, all as discussed above. 

The investment gain in the first three months of 2012 of $ 127 M, which was non-taxable, was due to the fair 
valuation of our investment in Renal Advantage Partners, LLC at the time of the Liberty Acquisition. This gain 
was finalized at December 31, 2012 in the amount of $ 139.6 M.

Interest expense decreased by 4 % to $ 115 M for the first quarter of 2013 from $ 119 M for the same period in 2012 
mainly as a result of lower interest rates. Interest income decreased to $ 11 M for the three months ended 
March 31, 2013 from $ 20 M for the same period of 2012 due to the retirement of the loan receivable from Renal 
Advantage Partners LLC as part of the Liberty Acquisition on February 28, 2012.

Income tax expense decreased to $ 129 M for the first quarter of 2013 from $ 137 M for the same period in 2012. 
The effective tax rate increased to 33.2 % from 25.8 % for the same period of 2012 as a result of the non-taxable 
investment gain in 2012 as noted above. 

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests for the first three months of 2013 increased to $ 35 M from 
$ 23 M for the same period of 2012 primarily due to losses attributable to noncontrolling interests in the Inter-
national Segment in 2012 and the non-controlling interest associated with the Liberty Acquisition which 
closed on February 28, 2012. 

Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & CO. KGAA for the first quarter of 2013 decreased to $ 225 M 
from $ 370 M for the same period in 2012 as a result of the combined effects of the $ 127 M investment gain 
 related to the Liberty Acquisition and the other items discussed above. 

We employed 86,855 people (full-time equivalents) at March 31, 2013 compared to 82,979 at March 31, 2012, an 
increase of 4.7 %, primarily due to overall growth in our business and acquisitions.
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The following discussions pertain to the North America Segment and the International Segment and the 
measures we use to manage these segments. 

North America Segment

Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012 Change

Number of treatments 6,148,850 5,745,986 7 %

Same market treatment growth in % 3.6 3.4 –

Net revenue in $ M 2,287 2,105 9 %

Depreciation and amortization in $ M 80 72 11 %

Operating income in $ M 369 348 6 %

Operating income margin in % 16.1 16.5 –

Revenue 
Treatments increased by 7 % for the first quarter of 2013 as compared to the same period in 2012 mostly due 
to the Liberty Acquisition, net of divestitures (6 %) same market growth (4 %) and contributions from other 
acquisitions (1 %), partially offset by a decrease in dialysis treatment days (2 %) and the effect of closed or sold 
clinics (2 %). At March 31, 2013, 167,233 patients (a 3 % increase over March 31, 2012) were being treated in the 
2,090 clinics that we own or operate in the North America Segment, compared to 161,656 patients treated in 
2,053 clinics at March 31, 2012. Average North America revenue per treatment, which includes Canada and 
Mexico, before bad debt expense, was $ 351 for the first quarter of 2013 and $ 345 for the same period in 2012. 
In the U. S., the average revenue per treatment was $ 359 for the first quarter of 2013 in comparison to $ 353 for 
the same period in 2012. The increase was mainly attributable to increased revenue driven by further develop-
ment of our expanded service offerings and the updated Medicare reimbursement rate which came into 
 effect in 2013, partially offset by reduced pharmaceutical utilization in non-bundled commercial treatments.

Net revenue for the North America Segment for the first quarter of 2013 increased as a result of an increase 
in dialysis care revenue by 10 % to $ 2,104 M from $ 1,918 M in the same period of 2012, partially offset by a 
 decrease in dialysis product revenue to $ 183 M from $ 187 M.

The dialysis care revenue increase was driven by contributions from acquisitions (8 %), same market treatment 
growth (4 %) and increases in organic revenue per treatment (1 %), partially offset by a decrease in dialysis 
treatment days (2 %) and the effect of closed or sold clinics (1 %).

The dialysis product revenue decrease was driven by lower sales of renal pharmaceuticals. 

Operating Income 
Operating income increased to $ 369 M for the first quarter of 2013 from $ 348 M for the same period in 2012. 
Operating income margin decreased to 16.1 % for the first quarter of 2013 from 16.5 % for the same period in 
2012, primarily due to higher personnel expenses, the negative impact compared to the first quarter of 2012, 
in which we recorded the gain on the sale of FMC AG & CO. KGAA clinics related to the Liberty Acquisition, the 
effect of two less dialysis treatment days and higher legal expenses, partially offset by increased revenue 
driven by the 2013 Medicare reimbursement rate increase and the effect on the first quarter of 2012 from one-
time costs related to the Liberty Acquisition as well as the overall impact of the Liberty Acquisition. Cost per 
treatment for North America increased to $ 288 for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 from $ 280 in 2012. Cost 
per treatment in the U. S. increased to $ 294 for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 from $ 286 in the same period 
of 2012.

t.  4 Key indicators for North America segment
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International Segment

Three months ended March 31, Change

 
2013 2012 as reported

at constant 
 exchange rates 1

Number of treatments 3,532,660 3,466,660 2 % –

Same market treatment growth in % 3.0 4.6 – –

Net revenue in $ M 1,169 1,136 3 % 4 %

Depreciation and amortization in $ M 45 43 5 % –

Operating income in $ M 184 195 –6 % –

Operating income margin in % 15.7 17.2 – –

1 For further information on “at constant exchange rates,” see “Non-U.S. GAAP Measures – Constant currency” below.

Revenue 
Treatments increased by 2 % in the first quarter of 2013 over the same period in 2012 mainly due to same mar-
ket growth (3 %) and contributions from acquisitions (2 %), partially offset by the effect of closed or sold clinics 
(2 %) and a decrease in dialysis treatment days (1 %). At March 31, 2013, we had 94,415 patients (a 3 % increase 
over March 31, 2012) being treated at the 1,090 clinics that we own, operate or manage in the International 
Segment compared to 91,385 patients treated at 1,066 clinics at March 31, 2012. Average revenue per treatment 
for the first quarter of 2013 increased to $ 163 in comparison with $ 161 for the same period of 2012 due to 
 increased reimbursement rates and changes in country mix ($ 5), partially offset by the weakening of local 
currencies against the U. S. dollar ($ 3).

Including the effects of acquisitions, European region revenue increased 1 % (1 % increase at constant  exchange 
rates), Latin America region revenue increased 4 % (12 % at constant exchange rates), and Asia-Pacific region 
revenue increased 7 % (7 % at constant exchange rates).

Net revenues for the International Segment for the first quarter of 2013 increased by 3 % (4 % increase at con-
stant exchange rates) as compared to the same period in 2012 mainly as a result of increases in both dialysis 
care and dialysis product revenues. Organic growth during the period was 5 % and acquisitions during the 
period contributed 1 %, partially offset by the negative effect of exchange rate fluctuations (1 %), a decrease in 
dialysis treatment days (1 %) and the effect of closed or sold clinics (1 %).

Total dialysis care revenue for the International Segment increased during the first quarter of 2013 by 3 % (5 % 
increase at constant exchange rates) to $ 574 M from $ 560 M in the same period of 2012. This increase is a result 
of same market treatment growth (3 %), increases in organic revenue per treatment (3 %) and contributions 
from acquisitions (2 %), partially offset by the negative effect of exchange rate fluctuations (2 %), the effect of 
closed or sold clinics (2 %) and a decrease in dialysis treatment days (1 %). 

Total dialysis product revenue for the first quarter of 2013 increased by 3 % (3 % increase at constant exchange 
rates) to $ 595 M from $ 576 M in the same period of 2012. This increase at constant currency was due to 
 increased sales of hemodialysis products, especially of dialyzers, solutions and concentrates and bloodlines as 
well as products for acute care, partially offset by lower sales of renal pharmaceuticals and machines. 

t.  5 Key indicators for International segment
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Operating Income 
Operating income decreased to $ 184 M for the first quarter of 2013 from $ 195 M for the same period in 2012. 
Operating income margin decreased to 15.7 % for the first quarter of 2013 from 17.2 % for the same period in 
2012 mainly due to the devaluation of the Venezuelan Bolivar driven by a hyperinflationary economy, a lower 
average sales price for products and reductions in reimbursement rates, partially offset by decreased bad debt 
expenses, favorable foreign exchange effects and business growth in Asia Pacific. 

Inflationary Accounting
As we are subject to foreign exchange risk, we monitor the economic conditions of the countries in which we 
operate. Venezuela has been considered a highly inflationary economy since 2010. In November 2012, the SEC 
Regulations Committee reaffirmed this status. Effective January 1, 2013 our operations in Venezuela are still 
considered to be operating in a highly inflationary economy, as the Venezuelan economy exceeded the three-
year cumulative inflation rate of 100 % during the fourth quarter of 2012. We use a blend of the National 
Consumer Price Index and the Consumer Price Index to determine whether Venezuela is a highly inflationary 
economy. As a result, our financial statements of our subsidiaries operating in Venezuela continue to use the 
U. S. dollar as their functional currency. However, in 2013, the Venezuelan government revalued the bolivar. 
Consequently, we recorded a pre-tax loss of $ 9.6 M for the first three months of 2013 as compared to the same 
period in 2012.

liQuidity and capital resources

Three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to three months ended March 31, 2012. 

Liquidity 
Our primary sources of liquidity are typically cash from operations, cash from borrowings from third parties 
and related parties, as well as cash from issuance of debt and equity securities. We require this capital primar-
ily to finance working capital needs, to fund acquisitions and joint ventures, to develop free-standing renal 
dialysis centers, to purchase equipment for existing or new renal dialysis centers and production sites, to 
 repay debt and to pay dividends.

At March 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $ 535 M. For information regarding utilization and 
availability under our principal credit facility (the “2012 Credit Agreement”), see Note 6 of the Notes to Consoli-
dated Financial Statements (unaudited), “Long-term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations”, included in this 
report.

Operations 
In the first three months of 2013 and 2012, we generated net cash from operations of $ 315 M and $ 481 M, 
 respectively. Cash from operations is impacted by the profitability of our business, the development of our 
working capital, principally receivables, and cash outflows that occur due to a number of specific items as 
discussed below. The decrease in 2013 versus 2012 was mainly a result of a $ 100 M payment, partially offset by 
repayments received, both of which were associated with the amendment to the agreement relating to our 
iron product Venofer ® (see chapter 1.1, “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects – Results of Operations 

– year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011” in our Financial Report of our 
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2012), unfavorable development of other working capital 
items and higher income tax payments in Germany, partially offset by a slightly favorable development in days 
sales outstanding (DSO) as compared to the same period of 2012.

The profitability of our business depends significantly on reimbursement rates. Approximately 77 % of our 
revenues are generated by providing dialysis services, a major portion of which is reimbursed by either public 
health care organizations or private insurers. For the three months ended March 31, 2013, approximately 32 % 
of our consolidated revenues were attributable to U. S. federal health care benefit programs, such as Medicare 
and Medicaid reimbursement. Legislative changes could affect Medicare reimbursement rates for a significant 
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portion of the services we provide, as well as the scope of Medicare coverage. A decrease in reimbursement 
rates or the scope of coverage could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations and thus on our capacity to generate cash flow. With the exception of the implementa-
tion of the ESRD PPS in the U. S. in January 2011, and possible adjustments to this payment system for changes 
in the utilization and costs of certain drugs and biologicals included in the ESRD PPS; we have experienced and 
also expect in the future to experience generally stable reimbursements for dialysis services. This includes 
the balancing of unfavorable reimbursement changes in certain countries with favorable changes in other 
 countries. 

Our working capital, which is defined as current assets less current liabilities, was $ 2,696 M at March 31, 2013 
which decreased from $ 2,957 M at December 31, 2012. The change is primarily the result of reclassifications of 
the payments relating the maturity of two of our European Investment Bank (EIB) Agreements and for a quar-
terly repayment of our term loan facility under the 2012 Credit Agreement from long-term debt to the current 
portion of long-term debt as well as a decrease in cash, partially offset by a reduction in accounts payable 
driven by the payment of the $ 100 M Venofer® agreement amendment fee incurred in 2012. Our ratio of  current 
assets to current liabilities was 1.8 at March 31, 2013. 

We intend to continue to address our current cash and financing requirements by the generation of cash from 
operations, our existing and future credit agreements, and the issuance of debt securities. In addition, when 
funds are required for acquisitions or to meet other needs, we expect to successfully complete long-term 
 financing arrangements, such as the issuance of senior notes, see “Financing” below. We aim to preserve  financial 
resources with a minimum of $ 300 to $ 500 M of committed and unutilized credit facilities.

Cash from operations depends on the collection of accounts receivable. Commercial customers and govern-
ments generally have different payment cycles. A lengthening of their payment cycles could have a material 
adverse effect on our capacity to generate cash flow. In addition, we could face difficulties in enforcing and 
collecting accounts receivable under some countries’ legal systems and due to the economic conditions in 
some countries. Accounts receivable balances, net of valuation allowances, represented DSO of approximately 
76 at both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

DSO by segment is calculated by dividing the segment’s accounts receivable, as converted to U. S. dollars using 
the average exchange rate for the period presented, less any value added tax included in the receivables, by 
the average daily sales for the last twelve months of that segment, as converted to U. S. dollars using the 
average exchange rate for the period. Receivables and sales are adjusted for amounts related to significant 
acquisitions made during the periods presented. The development of DSO by reporting segment is shown in 
the table below:

 March 31, 
2013

December 31, 
2012

North America 54 55

International 116 115

 FMC AG & Co. KGaA (average days sales outstanding) 76 76

t.  6 Development of days sales outstanding
in days
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DSO remained fairly flat. The slight decrease in the North America Segment was offset by a slight increase in 
the International Segment between December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013. The International Segment’s DSO 
slight increase reflects slight payment delays, particularly in countries with budget deficits and in China. Due 
to the fact that a large portion of our reimbursement is provided by public health care organizations and 
private insurers, we expect that most of our accounts receivable will be collectible, albeit slightly more slowly 
in the International Segment in the immediate future.

Investing 
We used net cash of $ 217 M and $ 1,648 M in investing activities in the three-months periods ended March 31, 
2013 and 2012, respectively.

Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment, net of disposals were $ 146 M and $ 122 M in the first 
three months of 2013 and 2012, respectively. In the first three months of 2013, capital expenditures were $ 87 M 
in the North America Segment, $ 35 M for the International Segment and $ 24 M at Corporate. Capital expendi-
tures in the first three months of 2012 were $ 59 M in the North America Segment, $ 36 M for the International 
Segment and $ 27 M at Corporate. The majority of our capital expenditures was used for maintaining existing 
clinics, equipping new clinics, maintenance and expansion of production facilities, primarily in Germany, 
North America and France and capitalization of machines provided to our customers, primarily in the Inter-
national Segment. Capital expenditures were approximately 4 % of total revenue in the first three months of 
2013 and 2012.

We invested approximately $ 72 M cash in the first three months of 2013, $ 26 M in the North America Segment 
and $ 46 M in the International Segment. In the first three months of 2012, we invested approximately $ 1,703 M 
cash primarily through the $ 1,516 M acquisition of Liberty, net of divestitures ($ 1,701 M in the North America 
Segment and $ 2 M in the International Segment).

We anticipate capital expenditures of approximately $ 0.7 BN and expect to make acquisitions of approximately 
$ 0.3 BN in 2013. See “Outlook” below.

Financing 
Net cash used in financing was $ 246 M in the first three months of 2013 compared to net cash provided by 
 financing of $ 1,284 M in the first three months of 2012, respectively.

In the three-months period ended March 31, 2013, cash was used in the repayment of portions of the accounts 
receivable facility, short-term borrowings and long-term debt, as well as distributions to noncontrolling inter-
ests, partially offset by proceeds from short-term borrowings. In the first three months of 2012, cash was pro-
vided by the issuance of senior notes and short-term borrowings, partially offset by repayment of the accounts 
receivable facility, short-term borrowings, long-term debt and amounts from third and related  parties.

We announced on April 4, 2013 that we plan to buy back an aggregate value of up to €385 M (approximately 
$ 500 M) of our ordinary shares. In addition, we announced that we will seek shareholder approval at our 
 annual general meeting and in a separate meeting of preference shareholders in May 2013 to convert all of 
the 3,973,333 outstanding preference shares to ordinary shares. 

The conversion will be effected without a requirement for any additional payment by preference shareholders. 
However, we have been in discussions with a major preference shareholder, a reputable European financial 
institution, holding approximately 77 % of our outstanding preference shares who has agreed with us to 
 support the proposed resolution and has furthermore undertaken to pay a conversion premium relating to its 
preference shares.
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The premium amount corresponds to an agreed value of the average spread during the 3-months period from 
January 1, 2013 through March 31, 2013 between the preference shares and the ordinary shares of approxi-
mately €9 per preference share or €27 M for the major preference shareholder’s total preference share position.

Non-U. S. GAAP Measures
Constant Currency
Changes in revenue include the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We use the non-GAAP 
financial measure “at constant exchange rates” in our filings to show changes in our revenue without giving 
effect to period-to-period currency fluctuations. Under U. S. GAAP, revenues received in local (non-U. S. dollar) 
currency are translated into U. S. dollars at the average exchange rate for the period presented. When we use 
the term “constant currency,” it means that we have translated local currency revenues for the current report-
ing period into U. S. dollars using the same average foreign currency exchange rates for the conversion of 
revenues into U. S. dollars that we used to translate local currency revenues for the comparable reporting 
period of the prior year. We then calculate the change, as a percentage, of the current period revenues using 
the prior period exchange rates versus the prior period revenues. This resulting percentage is a non-GAAP 
measure referring to a change as a percentage “at constant exchange rates.”

We believe that revenue growth is a key indication of how a company is progressing from period to period 
and that the non-GAAP financial measure constant currency is useful to investors, lenders, and other creditors 
because such information enables them to gauge the impact of currency fluctuations on a company’s revenue 
from period to period. However, we also believe that the usefulness of data on constant currency period- 
over-period changes is subject to limitations, particularly if the currency effects that are eliminated constitute 
a significant element of our revenue and significantly impact our performance. We therefore limit our use of 
constant currency period-over-period changes to a measure for the impact of currency fluctuations on the 
translation of local currency revenue into U. S. dollars. We do not evaluate our results and performance with-
out considering both constant currency period-over-period changes in non-U. S. GAAP revenue on the one 
hand and changes in revenue prepared in accordance with U. S. GAAP on the other. We caution the readers of 
this report to follow a similar approach by considering data on constant currency period-over-period changes 
only in addition to, and not as a substitute for or superior to, changes in revenue prepared in accordance with 
U. S. GAAP. We present the fluctuation derived from U. S. GAAP revenue next to the fluctuation derived from 
non-GAAP revenue. Because the reconciliation is inherent in the disclosure, we believe that a separate recon-
ciliation would not provide any additional benefit.

Debt covenant disclosure – EBITDA 
EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization expenses) was approximately $ 650 M, 
18.8 % of revenues for the three-months period ended March 31, 2013, and $ 646 M, 19.9 % of revenues for the 
same period of 2012. EBITDA is the basis for determining compliance with certain covenants contained in our 
2012 Credit Agreement, euro-denominated notes, EIB agreements, and the indentures relating to our senior 
notes. You should not consider EBITDA to be an alternative to net earnings determined in accordance with U. S. 
GAAP or to cash flow from operations, investing activities or financing activities. In addition, not all funds 
depicted by EBITDA are available for management’s discretionary use. For example, a substantial portion of 
such funds are subject to contractual restrictions and functional requirements for debt service, to fund 
 necessary capital expenditures and to meet other commitments from time to time as described in more detail 
elsewhere in this report. EBITDA, as calculated, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported 
by other companies. A reconciliation of EBITDA to cash flow provided by operating activities, which we believe 
to be the most directly comparable U. S. GAAP financial measure, is calculated as follows:

19

f i r s t  Q u a r t e r  2 013 
i n t e r i m  f i n a n c i a l  r e p o r t

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012

 Total EBITDA 650 646

Interest expense (net of interest income) (104) (99)

Income tax expense, net (129) (137)

Change in deferred taxes, net (26) 28

Changes in operating assets and liabilities (101) 28

Stock compensation expense 6 7

Other items, net 19 8

 Net cash provided by operating activities 315 481

Balance sheet structure 

Total assets as of March 31, 2013 decreased to $ 22.1 BN compared to $ 22.3 BN at December 31, 2012. Current 
assets as a percent of total assets remained flat at 27 % at March 31, 2013 as compared to December 31, 2012. 
The equity ratio, the ratio of our equity divided by total liabilities and shareholders’ equity, increased to 42 % 
at March 31, 2013 as compared to 41 % at December 31, 2012.

opportunities and risk report

Opportunities Report
In comparison to the information contained within the Annual Report for December 31, 2012, there have been 
no material changes for the first quarter of 2013. Please refer to chapter 2.8 “Risk and Opportunities Report” on pages 
107 – 116 of the Annual Report.

Risk Report
For information regarding the Company’s risk please refer to Note 12 and the chapter “Financial condition and 
results of operations” and specifically the Forward looking statement and Overview sections in this report. For 
additional information please see chapter 2.8 “Risk and Opportunities” on pages 107 – 116 of the Annual Report for 
December 31, 2012.

t.  7 Reconciliation of measures for consolidated totals
in $ M
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report on expected developments

Below is a table showing our growth outlook for 2013:

 2013

Revenue > 14,600

Revenue growth > 6 %

Operating Income 2,300 – 2,500 

Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA 1,100 – 1,200 

Capital expenditures ~ 700

Acquisitions ~ 300 

Debt / EBITDA ratio ≤ 3.0 

Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & CO. KGAA represents an increase of between 5 % and 15 % 
if compared to the net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & CO. KGAA for 2012 excluding an invest-
ment gain in the amount of $ 140 M. The range of our net income guidance considers the U. S. government 
reversing the effect of sequestration for the calendar year. If this takes place it represents approximately $ 70 M 
in operating income and approximately $ 45 M in net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & CO. KGAA. 
It is possible that the U. S. government may modify all or a portion of this but the likelihood of this diminishes 
as the year progresses.

suBseQuent events

At the Annual General Meeting in Frankfurt on May 16, 2013 the Company’s shareholders approved the sim-
plification of its capital structure. With a large majority of 99.97 % the shareholders approved the mandatory 
conversion of preference shares into ordinary shares on a 1:1 basis, as recommended by the Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board. A separate meeting of preference shareholders also approved the proposal, 
with a 99.99 % majority. Preference shares currently represent about 1.3 % of the Company’s total share capital.

No other significant activities have taken place since the balance sheet date March 31, 2013, which have a 
material impact in any way on the key figures presented and business earnings. Currently, no significant 
changes are intended for the structure, management or legal form of the Company and its personnel.

recently adopted accounting pronouncements

On January 31, 2013, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-01 (ASU 2013-01) an update to Balance 
Sheet (Topic 210), Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities (Topic 210). The 
main purpose of ASU 2013-01 is to clarify the scope of balance sheet offsetting under Topic 210 to include 
 derivatives, repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and securi-
ties lending transactions that are offset or subject to master netting agreements. The disclosures required 
under Topic 210 would apply to these transactions and other types of financial assets or liabilities will no 
longer be subject to Topic 210. The update is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The 
Company does not utilize balance sheet offsetting for their derivative transactions. See Note 12, “Financial Instru-
ments” in our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for more information.

t.  8 Outlook
in $ M, except Debt / EBITDA ratio
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recently issued accounting pronouncements

On February 28, 2013 FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-04 (ASU 2013-04) Liabilities (Topic 405), 
Obligations Resulting from Joint and Several Liability Arrangements for which the Total Amount of the 
 Obligations is Fixed at the Reporting Date.” ASU 2013-04’s objective is to provide guidance and clarification on 
the recognition, measurement and disclosure of obligations resulting from joint and several liability arrange-
ments such as debt arrangements, other contractual obligations and settled litigation and judicial rulings. The 
update is effective for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2013. We are currently evaluating the 
 impact of ASU 2013-04 on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

On March 4, 2013 FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-05 (ASU 2012-05) Foreign Currency Matters 
(Topic 830), Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative Translation Adjustment upon Derecognition of Certain 
Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investment in a Foreign Entity. The purpose 
of 2013-05 is to provide clarification and further refinement regarding the treatment of the release of a cumu-
lative translation adjustment into net income. This occurs in instances where the parent either sells a part or 
all of its investment in a foreign entity. Another possibility is, if a company no longer holds a controlling 
 interest in a subsidiary or group of assets that is a nonprofit activity or business within a foreign entity. The 
update is effective for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2013. We are currently evaluating the 
 impact of ASU 2013-05 on our Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Financial Statements

consolidated statements of income

Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012

revenue

Dialysis care 2,741,935 2,544,059

Less: Patient service bad debt provision 63,749 66,859

Net dialysis care 2,678,186 2,477,200

Dialysis products 785,735 771,555

 Total 3,463,921 3,248,755

costs of revenue

Dialysis care 1,984,224 1,831,126

Dialysis products 370,179 348,120

 Total 2,354,403 2,179,246

Gross profit 1,109,518 1,069,509

operating (income) expenses

Selling, general and administrative 591,714 552,832

Gain on sale of dialysis clinics (1,073) (9,314)

Research and development 30,372 28,522

Income from equity method investees (4,808) (5,497)

 Operating income 493,313 502,966

other (income) expense

Investment gain – (126,685)

Interest income (10,589) (20,306)

Interest expense 114,818 119,186

Income before income taxes 389,084 530,771

Income tax expense 129,001 137,077

Net income 260,083 393,694

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 34,584 23,196

 Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA 225,499 370,498

 Basic income per ordinary share $ 0.74 $ 1.22

 Fully diluted income per ordinary share $ 0.73 $ 1.21

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

t.  9 Consolidated Statements of Income
in $ THOUS, except share data, unaudited
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consolidated statements of comprehensive income

Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012

 Net income 260,083 393,694

Gain (loss) related to cash flow hedges 15,897 (4,283)

Actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit pension plans 6,392 4,373

Gain (loss) related to foreign currency translation (68,188) 120,796

Income tax (expense) benefit related to components of other comprehensive income (6,682) (18,981)

 Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (52,581) 101,905

 Total comprehensive income 207,502 495,599

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 32,602 24,037

 Comprehensive income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA 174,900 471,562

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

t.  10 Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
in $ THOUS, unaudited
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consolidated Balance sheets

March 31,  
2013

December 31,  
2012

 (unaudited) (audited)

assets
current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 534,841 688,040

Trade accounts receivable less allowance for doubtful accounts of $ 318,989 in 2013  
and $ 328,893 in 2012 3,017,258 3,019,424

Accounts receivable from related parties 156,989 137,809

Inventories 1,076,566 1,036,809

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 915,544 937,761

Deferred taxes 296,683 307,613

 Total current assets 5,997,881 6,127,456

Property, plant and equipment, net 2,911,039 2,940,603

Intangible assets 690,348 710,116

Goodwill 11,439,985 11,421,889

Deferred taxes 134,368 133,753

Investment in equity method investees 601,427 637,373

Other assets and notes receivables 364,615 354,808

 Total assets 22,139,663 22,325,998

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

t.  11 Consolidated Balance Sheets
in $ THOUS,except share data
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March 31,  
2013

December 31,  
2012

 (unaudited) (audited)

liabilities and shareholders’ equity
current liabilities

Accounts payable 483,779 622,294

Accounts payable to related parties 141,499 123,350

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,748,920 1,787,471

Short-term borrowings 119,985 117,850

Short-term borrowings from related parties 7,211 3,973

Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations 536,224 334,747

Income tax payable 204,184 150,003

Deferred taxes 33,499 30,303

 Total current liabilities 3,302,301 3,169,991

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion 7,304,310 7,785,740

Long-term debt from related parties 56,303 56,174

Other liabilities 326,785 294,569

Pension liabilities 421,917 423,361

Income tax payable 199,505 201,642

Deferred taxes 633,075 664,001

 Total liabilities 12,244,196 12,595,478

Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions 551,402 523,260

shareholders’ equity

Preference shares, no par value, € 1.00 nominal value, 7,066,522 shares authorized,  
3,973,333 issued and outstanding 4,462 4,462

Ordinary shares, no par value, € 1.00 nominal value, 385,396,450 shares authorized,  
302,843,085 issued and outstanding 375,051 374,915

Additional paid-in capital 3,461,966 3,491,581

Retained earnings 5,789,160 5,563,661

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (542,712) (492,113)

 Total FMC AG & Co. KGaA shareholders’ equity 9,087,927 8,942,506

Noncontrolling interests not subject to put provisions 256,138 264,754

Total equity 9,344,065 9,207,260

 Total liabilities and equity 22,139,663 22,325,998

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

t.  11 Consolidated Balance Sheets
in $ THOUS, except share data
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consolidated statements of cash flows

Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012

operating activities

Net income 260,083 393,694

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 156,353 143,374

Change in deferred taxes, net (25,963) 27,838

(Gain) loss on sale of investments (1,073) (9,331)

(Gain) loss on sale of fixed assets 1,401 582

Investment (gain) – (126,685)

Compensation expense related to stock options 6,220 6,546

Cash inflow (outflow) from hedging – (15,578)

Investments in equity method investees, net 18,582 32,425

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of amounts from businesses acquired:

Trade accounts receivable, net (40,702) (104,401)

Inventories (56,173) (28,852)

Prepaid expenses, other current and non-current assets 35,587 138,932

Accounts receivable from related parties (24,934) (16,359)

Accounts payable to related parties 23,459 (9,759)

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current and non-current liabilities (99,671) 30,552

Income tax payable 62,249 18,199

 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 315,418 481,177

investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (147,357) (124,418)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,327 1,849

Acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired, and purchases of intangible assets (72,214) (1,702,802)

Proceeds from divestitures 1,036 176,721

 Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (217,208) (1,648,650)

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

t.  12 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
in $ THOUS, unaudited
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Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012

financing activities

Proceeds from short-term borrowings 46,349 29,868

Repayments of short-term borrowings (41,930) (39,171)

Proceeds from short-term borrowings from related parties 4,226 –

Repayments of short-term borrowings from related parties  (1,606) (13,894)

Proceeds from long-term debt and capital lease obligations  
(net of debt issuance costs and other hedging costs of $ 155,056 in 2012) 598 1,704,748

Repayments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations (32,915) (41,573)

Increase (decrease) of accounts receivable securitization program (162,000) (333,250)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 4,635 4,354

Distributions to noncontrolling interests (72,619) (32,366)

Contributions from noncontrolling interests 8,795 5,350

 Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (246,467) 1,284,066

 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (4,942) 6,339

cash and cash equivalents

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (153,199) 122,932

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 688,040 457,292

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 534,841 580,224

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

t.  12 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
in $ THOUS,unaudited
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consolidated statement of shareholders’ eQuity

Preference shares Ordinary shares

 Number  
of shares

No par  
value

Number  
of shares

No par  
value

Addi tional  
paid in   capital

 Balance at December 31, 2011 (audited) 3,965,691 4,452 300,164,922 371,649 3,362,633

Proceeds from exercise of options  
and related tax effects 7,642 10 2,574,836 3,266 110,510

Compensation expense related to stock options – – – – 26,476

Dividends paid – – – – –

Purchase / sale of noncontrolling interests – – – – (26,918)

Contributions from/ to noncontrolling interests – – – – –

Changes in fair value of noncontrolling 
 interests subject to put provisions – – – – 18,880

Net income – – – – –

Other comprehensive income (loss) – – – – –

Comprehensive income – – – – –

 Balance at December 31, 2012 (audited) 3,973,333 4,462 302,739,758 374,915 3,491,581

Proceeds from exercise of options  
and related tax effects – – 103,327 136 4,407

Compensation expense related to stock options – – – – 6,220

Dividends paid – – – – –

Purchase / sale of noncontrolling interests – – – – (13,930)

Contributions from/ to noncontrolling interests – – – – –

Changes in fair value of noncontrolling 
 interests subject to put provisions – – – – (26,312)

Net income – – – – –

Other comprehensive income (loss) – – – – –

Comprehensive income – – – – –

 Balance at March 31, 2013 (unaudited) 3,973,333 4,462 302,843,085 375,051 3,461,966

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

t.  13 Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity
in $ THOUS, except share data, audited and unaudited
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Retained  
 earnings

Accumulated 
other compre-

hensive income 
(loss)

Total FMC AG & 
Co. KGaA 

 share holders’  
equity

Non controlling  
interests not 

subject to put 
 provisions Total  equity

 Balance at December 31, 2011 (audited) 4,648,585 (485,767) 7,901,552 159,465 8,061,017

Proceeds from exercise of options and related 
tax effects – – 113,786 – 113,786

Compensation expense related to stock options – – 26,476 – 26,476

Dividends paid (271,733) – (271,733) – (271,733)

Purchase / sale of noncontrolling interests – – (26,918) 86,705 59,787

Contributions from/ to noncontrolling interests – – – (26,428) (26,428)

Changes in fair value of noncontrolling interests 
subject to put provisions – – 18,880 – 18,880

Net income 1,186,809 – 1,186,809 45,450 1,232,259

Other comprehensive income (loss) – (6,346) (6,346) (438) (6,784)

Comprehensive income – – 1,180,463 45,012 1,225,475

 Balance at December 31, 2012 (audited) 5,563,661 (492,113) 8,942,506 264,754 9,207,260

Proceeds from exercise of options and related 
tax effects – – 4,543 – 4,543

Compensation expense related to stock options – – 6,220 – 6,220

Dividends paid – – – – –

Purchase / sale of noncontrolling interests – – (13,930) (4,278) (18,208)

Contributions from/ to noncontrolling interests – – – (13,545) (13,545)

Changes in fair value of noncontrolling interests 
subject to put provisions – – (26,312) – (26,312)

Net income 225,499 – 225,499 10,687 236,186

Other comprehensive income (loss) – (50,599) (50,599) (1,480) (52,079)

Comprehensive income – – 174,900 9,207 184,107

 Balance at March 31, 2013 (unaudited) 5,789,160 (542,712) 9,087,927 256,138 9,344,065

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

t.  13 Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity
in $ THOUS, except share data, audited and unaudited
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notes to consolidated financial statements

Unaudited. In thousands, except share and per share data.

1. The Company and basis of presentation 
The Company 
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA (FMC AG & CO. KGAA or the “Company”), a German partnership limited 
by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien), is the world’s largest kidney dialysis company, operating in 
both the field of dialysis care and the field of dialysis products for the treatment of end-stage renal disease 
(ESRD). The Company’s dialysis business is vertically integrated, providing dialysis treatment at dialysis clinics 
it owns or operates and supplying these clinics with a broad range of products. In addition, the Company sells 
dialysis products to other dialysis service providers. Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. (FMCH), located in 
the United States and our largest subsidiary, also provides laboratory testing services, pharmacy services, vas-
cular surgery services and inpatient dialysis services as well as other services under contract to hospitals.

In these unaudited consolidated financial statements, “FMC AG & CO. KGAA,” or the “Company,” “we,” “us” or 
“our” refers to the Company or the Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as the context 
 requires. The term “North America Segment” refers to the North America operating segment. The term 

“Inter national Segment” refers to the combined International and Asia-Pacific operating segments. 

Basis of presentation 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U. S. GAAP).

The consolidated financial statements at March 31, 2013 and for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 
2012 contained in this report are unaudited and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements contained in the Company’s 2012 Annual Report on Form 20-F. The preparation of consolidated 
financial statements in conformity with U. S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The accounting policies applied in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are the same as those 
applied in the consolidated financial statements at and for the year ended December 31, 2012, contained in 
the Company’s 2012 Annual Report on Form 20-F.

The results of operations for the three-months period ended March 31, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of 
the results of operations for the year ending December 31, 2013.

2. Acquisitions of Liberty Dialysis Holdings, Inc.
On February 28, 2012, the Company acquired 100 % of the equity of Liberty Dialysis Holdings, Inc. (LD Holdings), 
the owner of Liberty Dialysis and owner of a 51 % stake in Renal Advantage Partners, LLC (the Liberty Acquisi-
tion). The Company accounted for this transaction as a business combination and finalized the acquisition 
accounting on February 28, 2013.

Total consideration for the Liberty Acquisition was $ 2,181,358, consisting of $ 1,696,659 cash, net of cash  acquired 
and $ 484,699 non-cash consideration. Accounting standards for business combinations require previously held 
equity interests to be fair valued at the time of the acquisition with the difference to book value to be recog-
nized as a gain or loss in income. Prior to the Liberty Acquisition, the Company had a 49 % equity investment 
in Renal Advantage Partners, LLC, the fair value of which, $ 201,915, is included as part of the non-cash consid-
eration. The fair value was determined based on the discounted cash flow method, utilizing a discount rate 
of  approximately 13 %. In addition to the Company’s investment, it also had a loan receivable from Renal 
 Advantage Partners, LLC of $ 279,793, at a fair value of $ 282,784, which was retired as part of the transaction.
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The following table summarizes the final fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of 
the acquisition. Any adjustments to acquisition accounting from December 31, 2012 until finalization, net of 
related income tax effects, were recorded with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill:

Assets held for sale 164,068 

Trade accounts receivable 149,219

Other current assets 17,458

Deferred tax assets 14,932

Property, plant and equipment 168,335

Intangible assets and other assets 84,556

Goodwill 2,003,465

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities (105,403)

Income tax payable and deferred taxes (33,597)

Short-term borrowings and other financial liabilities and long-term debt and capital lease obligations (72,101)

Other liabilities (39,923)

Noncontrolling interests (subject and not subject to put provisions) (169,651)

 Total acquisition cost 2,181,358

Less non-cash contributions at fair value

Investment at acquisition date (201,915)

Long-term notes receivable (282,784)

 Total non-cash items (484,699)

 Net cash paid 1,696,659

The amortizable intangible assets acquired in this acquisition have weighted average useful lives of 6 – 8 years.

Goodwill in the amount of $ 2,003,465 was acquired as part of the Liberty Acquisition and was allocated to the 
North America Segment. Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising from other 
assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually identified and separately recognized. 
Goodwill arises principally due to the fair value placed on an estimated stream of future cash flows versus 
building a similar franchise. Of the goodwill recognized in this acquisition, approximately $ 436,000 is expected 
to be deductible for tax purposes and amortized over a 15 year period.

The noncontrolling interests acquired as part of the acquisition are stated at fair value based upon contractual 
multiples typically utilized by the Company for such arrangements as well as the Company’s overall experience. 

The fair valuation of the Company’s investment at the time of the Liberty Acquisition resulted in a preliminary 
non-taxable gain of $ 126,685 for the first three months of 2012. This gain was then finalized at December 31, 
2012 in the amount of $ 139,600. The retirement of the loan receivable resulted in a benefit of $ 5,500 for the 
first three months of 2012. This benefit was finalized and recognized in interest income in the amount of $ 8,501 
at December 31, 2012. 

t.  14 Preliminary purchase price allocation
in $ THOUS
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Divestitures
In connection with the Federal Trade Commission’s consent order relating to the Liberty Acquisition, the 
Company agreed to divest a total of 62 renal dialysis centers. Of the 61 clinics sold to date, 24 were 
FMC AG & CO. KGAA clinics which generated a gain of $ 33,455 that was included in the 2012 Consolidated 
 Statements of  Income.

Pro Forma Financial Information
The following financial information, on a pro forma basis, reflects the consolidated results of operations as if 
the Liberty Acquisition and the divestitures described above had been consummated on January 1, 2011. The 
pro forma information includes adjustments primarily for elimination of the investment gain and the gain 
from the retirement of debt. The pro-forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results of 
operations as it would have been had the transactions been consummated on January 1, 2011.

 Three months ended  
March 31, 2012

Net revenue 3,361,638 

Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA 263,307 

Income per ordinary share

 Basic 0.87 

 Fully diluted  0.86 

3. Related Party Transactions
The Company’s parent, Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA (Fresenius SE), a German partnership limited by shares, owns 
100 % of the share capital of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, the Company’s general partner (General 
Partner). Fresenius SE, the Company’s largest shareholder, owns approximately 31.2 % of the Company’s voting 
shares at March 31, 2013.

a) Service and Lease Agreements
The Company is party to service agreements with Fresenius SE and certain of its affiliates (collectively the 
Fresenius SE Companies) to receive services, including, but not limited to: administrative services, manage-
ment information services, employee benefit administration, insurance, information technology services, tax 
services and treasury management services. During the three-months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, amounts 
charged by Fresenius SE to the Company under the terms of these agreements were $ 23,973 and $ 17,299, 
 respectively. The Company also provides certain services to the Fresenius SE Companies, including research 
and development, central purchasing and warehousing. The Company charged $ 1,719 and $ 1,625 for services 
rendered to the Fresenius SE Companies during the first three months of 2013 and 2012 respectively.

Under real estate operating lease agreements entered into with the Fresenius SE Companies, which are leases 
for the corporate headquarters in Bad Homburg, Germany and production sites in Schweinfurt and St.  Wendel, 
Germany, the Company paid the Fresenius SE Companies $ 6,569 and $ 6,348 during the three months ended 
March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The majority of the leases expire in 2016 and contain renewal options.

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that the General Partner shall be reimbursed for any and all 
expenses in connection with management of the Company’s business, including remuneration of the mem-
bers of the General Partner’s supervisory board and the General Partner’s management board. The aggregate 
amount reimbursed to the General Partner was $ 4,511 and $ 3,035, respectively, for its management services 
during the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. 

t.  15 Pro forma financial information
in $ THOUS
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b) Products
For the first three months of 2013 and 2012, the Company sold products to the Fresenius SE Companies for 
$ 7,215 and $ 5,919, respectively. During the same periods, the Company made purchases from the Fresenius SE 
Companies in the amount of $ 10,364 and $ 11,835, respectively.

In addition to the purchases noted above, the Company currently purchases heparin supplied by Fresenius 
Kabi USA, Inc. (Kabi USA), through an independent group purchasing organization (GPO). Kabi USA is wholly- 
owned by Fresenius Kabi AG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fresenius SE. The Company has no direct supply 
agreement with Kabi USA and does not submit purchase orders directly to Kabi USA. During the three-months 
ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, FMCH, a 100 % owned subsidiary of the Company and its principal North 
 American subsidiary, acquired approximately $ 4,560 and $ 4,269, respectively, of heparin from Kabi USA, through 
the GPO contract, which was negotiated by the GPO at arm’s length on behalf of all members of the GPO.

c) Financing provided by and to Fresenius SE and the General Partner
The Company receives short-term financing from and provides short-term financing to Fresenius SE. The Com-
pany also utilizes Fresenius SE’s cash management system for the settlement of certain intercompany receiv-
ables and payables with its subsidiaries and other related parties.

At March 31, 2013, the Company had borrowings outstanding with Fresenius SE of €3,200 ($ 4,098) at an interest 
rate of 1.492 %, due on April 30, 2013. At December 31, 2012, the Company provided a loan to Fresenius SE of 
€20,900 ($ 27,575 at December 31, 2012) at an interest rate of 1.484 % which was due and paid on January 11, 2013.

On August 19, 2009, the Company borrowed €1,500 ($ 1,921 at March 31, 2013) from the General Partner at 
1.335 %. The loan repayment has been extended periodically and is currently due August 20, 2013 at an interest 
rate of 2.132 %.

At March 31, 2013, the Company had a Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CNY) loan of 357,413 ($ 57,496 at March 31, 2013) 
outstanding with a subsidiary of Fresenius SE at an interest rate of 6.1 % and a maturity date of May 23, 2014. 

d) Other
The Company, at March 31, 2013, had a receivable from Fresenius SE in the amount of €4,770 ($ 6,108) resulting 
from being a party to a German trade tax group agreement with Fresenius SE for the fiscal years 1997 – 2001.

4. Inventories 
As of March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, inventories consisted of the following:

 March 31, 
2013

December 31, 
2012

Finished goods 653,894 627,338

Raw materials and purchased components 176,939 171,373

Health care supplies 160,799 154,840

Work in process 84,934 83,258

 Inventories 1,076,566 1,036,809

t.  16 Inventories
in $ THOUS
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5. Short-term borrowings and short-term borrowings from related parties 
At March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, short-term borrowings and short-term borrowings from related 
parties consisted of the following:

 March 31, 
2013

December 31, 
2012

Borrowings under lines of credit 119,985 117,850

Short-term borrowings from related parties (see Note 3c) 7,211 3,973

 Short-term borrowings and short-term borrowings from related parties 127,196 121,823

6. Long-term debt and capital lease obligations and long-term debt from related parties
At March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, long-term debt and capital lease obligations and long-term debt 
from related parties consisted of the following: 

 March 31, 
2013

December 31, 
2012

2012 Credit Agreement 2,631,038 2,659,340

Senior Notes 4,694,106 4,743,442

Euro Notes 50,420 51,951

European Investment Bank Agreements 318,888 324,334

Accounts receivable facility – 162,000

Capital lease obligations 14,326 15,618

Other 158,756 163,802

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations 7,867,534 8,120,487

Less current maturities (563,224) (334,747)

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion 7,304,310 7,785,740

Long-term debt from related parties 56,303 56,174

 Long-term debt and capital lease obligations and long-term debt from related parties 7,360,613 7,841,914

t.  17 Short-term borrowings
in $ THOUS

t.  18 Long-term debt and capital lease obligations
in $ THOUS
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2012 Credit Agreement
The following table shows the available and outstanding amounts under the 2012 Credit Agreement at 
March 31, 2013 and at December 31, 2012:

Maximum amount available Balance outstanding

 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2013

Revolving credit U. S. dollar $ 600,000 $ 600,000 $ 31,038 $ 31,038 

Revolving credit Euro € 500,000 $ 640,250 – –

Term Loan A $ 2,600,000 $ 2,600,000 $ 2,600,000 $ 2,600,000 

 Total $ 3,840,250 $ 2,631,038 

Maximum amount available Balance outstanding

 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2012

Revolving credit U. S. dollar $ 600,000 $ 600,000 $ 59,340 $ 59,340 

Revolving credit Euro € 500,000 $ 659,700 – –

Term Loan A $ 2,600,000 $ 2,600,000 $ 2,600,000 $ 2,600,000

 Total $ 3,859,700 $ 2,659,340 

In addition, at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Company had letters of credit outstanding in the 
amount of $ 15,865 and $ 77,188 under the revolving credit facility, which are not included above as part of the 
balance outstanding, but reduce the available borrowings under the revolving credit facility. 

Accounts Receivable Facility Letters of Credit
The Company also had letters of credit outstanding under the accounts receivable facility beginning in 
March 2013 of $ 60,822. These letters of credit are not included above as part of the balance outstanding at 
March 31, 2013; however, they reduce available borrowings under the accounts receivable facility. 

t.  19 Available and outstanding credits 
in THOUS 
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7. Earnings per ordinary share 
The following table contains reconciliations of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted 
earnings per ordinary share computations for the three-months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012

numerators

Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA 225,499 370,498

Less dividend preference on preference shares 26 26

 Income available to all classes of shares 225,473 370,472

denominators

Weighted average number of:

Ordinary shares outstanding 302,773,218 300,205,126

Preference shares outstanding 3,973,333 3,966,001

Total weighted average shares outstanding 306,746,551 304,171,127

Potentially dilutive ordinary shares 1,131,149 2,423,102

Potentially dilutive preference shares 13,681 19,063

Total weighted average ordinary shares outstanding assuming dilution 303,904,367 302,628,228

Total weighted average preference shares outstanding assuming dilution 3,987,014 3,985,064

Basic income per ordinary share 0.74 1.22

Fully diluted income per ordinary share 0.73 1.21

8. Employee benefit plans 
The Company currently has two principal pension plans, one for German employees, the other covering 
 employees in the United States, the latter of which was curtailed in 2002. Plan benefits are generally based on 
years of service and final salary. As there is no legal requirement in Germany to fund defined benefit plans, 
the Company’s pension obligations in Germany are unfunded. Each year FMCH contributes to the plan cover-
ing United States employees at least the minimum required by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
of 1974, as amended.

The following table provides the calculations of net periodic benefit cost for the three-months ended March 31, 
2013 and 2012.

Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012

components of net periodic benefit cost

Service cost 3,851 2,692

Interest cost 6,760 6,492

Expected return on plan assets (3,400) (3,825)

Amortization of unrealized losses 6,392 4,373

 Net periodic benefit costs 13,603 9,732

t.  2 0 Reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per share
in $ THOUS, except per share data

t.  21 Employee benefit plans
in $ THOUS
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9. Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions
The Company has potential obligations to purchase the noncontrolling interests held by third parties in certain 
of its consolidated subsidiaries. These obligations are in the form of put provisions and are exercisable at the 
third-party owners’ discretion within specified periods as outlined in each specific put provision. If these put 
provisions were exercised, the Company would be required to purchase all or part of third-party owners’ non-
controlling interests at the appraised fair value at the time of exercise. The methodology the Company uses 
to estimate the fair values of the noncontrolling interest subject to put provisions assumes the greater of net 
book value or a multiple of earnings, based on historical earnings, development stage of the underlying busi-
ness and other factors. The estimated fair values of the noncontrolling interests subject to these put provisions 
can also fluctuate and the implicit multiple of earnings at which these noncontrolling interest  obligations may 
ultimately be settled could vary significantly from our current estimates depending upon market conditions.

At March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Company’s potential obligations under these put options were 
$ 551,402 and $ 523,260, respectively, of which, at March 31, 2013, $ 227,699 were exercisable. No put options 
were exercised during the first three months of 2013.

Following is a roll forward of noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions for the three months ended 
March 31, 2013 and the year ended December 31, 2012:

 2013 2012

Beginning balance as of January 1, 2013 and 2012 523,260 410,491

Contributions to noncontrolling interests (28,287) (114,536)

Purchase / sale of noncontrolling interests 4,797 134,643

Contributions from noncontrolling interests 1,925 16,565

Changes in fair value of noncontrolling interests 26,312 (18,880)

Net income 23,897 94,718

Other comprehensive income (loss) (502) 259

 Ending balance as of March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 551,402 523,260

10. Sources of Revenue
Below is a table showing the sources of our U. S. patient service revenue (net of contractual allowance and 
discounts but before patient service bad debt provision), included in the Company’s dialysis care revenue, for 
the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. Outside of the U. S., the Company does not recognize 
 patient service revenue at the time the services are rendered without assessing the patient’s ability to pay. 
Accordingly, the additional disclosure requirements introduced with ASU 2011-07 only apply to the U. S. patient 
service revenue.

Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012

Medicare ESRD program 1,055,056 923,625

Private / alternative payors 914,397 857,306

Medicaid and other government sources 91,026 103,570

Hospitals 106,931 99,742

 Total patient service revenue 2,167,410 1,984,243

t.  2 2 Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions
in $ THOUS

t.  2 3 Patient service revenue
in $ THOUS
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11. Commitments and Contingencies
Legal and Regulatory Matters
The Company is routinely involved in numerous claims, lawsuits, regulatory and tax audits, investigations and 
other legal matters arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course of its business of providing healthcare 
services and products. Legal matters that the Company currently deems to be material are described below. 
For the matters described below in which the Company believes a loss is both reasonably possible and 
 estimable, an estimate of the loss or range of loss exposure is provided. For the other matters described 
 below, the Company believes that the loss probability is remote and/or the loss or range of possible losses 
cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. The outcome of litigation and other legal matters is always 
 difficult to predict accurately and outcomes that are not consistent with the Company’s view of the merits 
can occur. The Company believes that it has valid defenses to the legal matters pending against it and is 
 defending itself vigorously. Nevertheless, it is possible that the resolution of one or more of the legal matters 
currently pending or threatened could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and 
financial condition.

Commercial litigation 
The Company was originally formed as a result of a series of transactions it completed pursuant to the 
 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated as of February 4, 1996, by and between W. R. Grace & Co. and 
Fresenius SE (the Merger). At the time of the Merger, a W. R. Grace & Co. subsidiary known as W. R. Grace & Co.-
Conn. had, and continues to have, significant liabilities arising out of product-liability related litigation 
( including asbestos-related actions), pre-Merger tax claims and other claims unrelated to National Medical 
Care, Inc. (NMC), which was W. R. Grace & Co.’s dialysis business prior to the Merger. In connection with the 
Merger, W. R. Grace & Co.-Conn. agreed to indemnify the Company, FMCH, and NMC against all liabilities of 
W. R. Grace & Co., whether relating to events occurring before or after the Merger, other than liabilities arising 
from or relating to NMC’s operations. W. R. Grace & Co. and certain of its subsidiaries filed for reorganization 
under Chapter 11 of the U. S. Bankruptcy Code (the “Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings”) on April 2, 2001.

Prior to and after the commencement of the Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings, class action complaints were filed 
against W. R. Grace & Co. and FMCH by plaintiffs claiming to be creditors of W. R. Grace & Co.-Conn., and by the 
asbestos creditors’ committees on behalf of the W. R. Grace & Co. bankruptcy estate in the Grace Chapter 11 
Proceedings, alleging, among other things that the Merger was a fraudulent conveyance, violated the uni-
form fraudulent transfer act and constituted a conspiracy. All such cases have been stayed and transferred to 
or are pending before the U. S. District Court as part of the Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings.

In 2003, the Company reached agreement with the asbestos creditors’ committees on behalf of the 
W. R. Grace & Co. bankruptcy estate and W. R. Grace & Co. in the matters pending in the Grace Chapter 11 Pro-
ceedings for the settlement of all fraudulent conveyance and tax claims against it and other claims related to 
the Company that arise out of the bankruptcy of W. R. Grace & Co. Under the terms of the settlement agree-
ment as amended (the “Settlement Agreement”), fraudulent conveyance and other claims raised on behalf of 
asbestos claimants will be dismissed with prejudice and the Company will receive protection against existing 
and potential future W. R. Grace & Co. related claims, including fraudulent conveyance and asbestos claims, 
and indemnification against income tax claims related to the non-NMC members of the W. R. Grace & Co. con-
solidated tax group upon confirmation of a W. R. Grace & Co. bankruptcy reorganization plan that contains 
such provisions. Under the Settlement Agreement, the Company will pay a total of $ 115,000 without interest, 
which has previously been accrued and is included on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, to the 
W. R. Grace & Co. bankruptcy estate, or as otherwise directed by the Court, upon plan confirmation. No admis-
sion of liability has been or will be made. While the Company believes this accrual reasonably estimates its 
currently anticipated costs related to the continued defense and resolution of this matter, no assurances can 
be given that its actual costs incurred will not exceed the amount of this accrual. The Settlement Agreement 
has been approved by the U. S. District Court. In January and February 2011, the U. S. Bankruptcy Court entered 
orders confirming the plan of reorganization and the confirmation orders were affirmed by the U. S. District 
Court on January 31, 2012. Multiple parties have appealed to the Third Circuit Court of Appeals and the plan 
of reorganization will not be implemented until the appeals are finally resolved. 
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Subsequent to the Merger, W. R. Grace & Co. was involved in a multi-step transaction involving Sealed Air 
Corporation (Sealed Air, formerly known as Grace Holding, Inc.). The Company is engaged in litigation with 
Sealed Air to confirm its entitlement to indemnification from Sealed Air for all losses and expenses incurred 
by the Company relating to pre-Merger tax liabilities and Merger-related claims. Under the Settlement Agree-
ment, upon final confirmation of a plan of reorganization that satisfies the conditions of the Company’s 
payment obligation, this litigation will be dismissed with prejudice.

On April 4, 2003, FMCH filed a suit in the U. S. District Court for the Northern District of California, styled 
Fresenius USA, Inc., et al., v. Baxter International Inc., et al., Case No. C 03-1431, seeking a declaratory judg-
ment that FMCH does not infringe patents held by Baxter International Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates 
(“Baxter”), that the patents are invalid, and that Baxter is without right or authority to threaten or maintain 
suit against FMCH for alleged infringement of Baxter’s patents. In general, the asserted patents concern the 
use of touch screen interfaces for hemodialysis machines. Baxter filed counterclaims against FMCH seeking 
more than $ 140,000 in monetary damages and injunctive relief, and alleging that FMCH willfully infringed on 
Baxter’s patents. On July 17, 2006, the court entered judgment on a jury verdict in favor of FMCH finding all 
asserted claims of Baxter patents invalid as obvious and/or anticipated in light of prior art.

On February 13, 2007, the court granted Baxter’s motion to set aside the jury’s verdict in favor of FMCH and 
reinstated the patents and entered judgment of infringement. Following a trial on damages, the court  entered 
judgment on November 6, 2007 in favor of Baxter on a jury award of $ 14,300. On April 4, 2008, the court 
 denied Baxter’s motion for a new trial, established a royalty payable to Baxter of 10 % of the sales price for 
continuing sales of FMCH’s 2008K hemodialysis machines and 7 % of the sales price of related disposables, parts 
and service beginning November 7, 2007, and enjoined sales of the touchscreen-equipped 2008K machine 
 effective January 1, 2009. The Company appealed the court’s rulings to the United States Court of Appeals for 
the Federal Circuit (Federal Circuit). On September 10, 2009, the Federal Circuit reversed the district court’s 
decision and determined that the asserted claims in two of the three patents at issue are invalid. As to the 
third patent, the Federal Circuit affirmed the district court’s decision; however, the Court also vacated the 
injunction and award of damages. These issues were remanded to the District Court for reconsideration in 
light of the invalidity ruling on most of the claims. As a result, FMCH is no longer required to fund the court- 
approved escrow account set up to hold the royalty payments ordered by the district court. Funds of $ 70,000 
were contributed to the escrow fund. Upon remand, the district court reduced the post verdict damages 
award to $ 10,000 and $ 61,000 of the escrowed funds was returned to FMCH. In the parallel reexamination of 
the last surviving patent, the U. S. Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) and the Board of Patent Appeals and 
Interferences ruled that the remaining Baxter patent is invalid. On May 17, 2012 the Federal Circuit affirmed the 
USPTO’s ruling and invalidated the final remaining Baxter patent. The Federal Circuit issued a mandate to the 
USPTO to cancel the claims of the last remaining asserted Baxter HD patent. Baxter appealed to the Federal 
Circuit claiming that approximately $ 20,000 of damages awarded to it by the District Court before the Federal 
Circuit affirmed the USPTO ruling constitutes a final judgment that may be collected.

On August 27, 2012, Baxter filed suit in the U. S. District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, styled Baxter 
International Inc., et al., v. Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc., Case No. 12-cv-06890, alleging that the 
Company’s Liberty™ cycler infringes certain U. S. patents that were issued to Baxter between October 2010 
and June 2012. The Company believes it has valid defenses to these claims, and will defend this litigation 
vigorously.

On April 5, 2013, the U. S. Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation ordered that lawsuits filed in various federal 
courts alleging wrongful death and personal injury claims against FMCH and certain of its affiliates relating to 
FMCH’s dialysate concentrate products NaturaLyte® and Granuflo® be transferred and consolidated for pretrial 
management purposes into a consolidated multidistrict litigation in the United States District Court for the 
District of Massachusetts, styled In Re: Fresenius Granuflo/Naturalyte Dialysate Products Liability Litigation, 
Case No. 2013-md-02428. These lawsuits allege generally that inadequate labeling and warnings for these 
products caused harm to patients. In addition, similar cases have been filed in other courts that will not be 
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formally consolidated with the federal multidistrict litigation. FMCH believes that these lawsuits are without 
merit, and will defend them vigorously. 

Other litigation and potential exposures 
Renal Care Group, Inc. (RCG), which the Company acquired in 2006, is named as a nominal defendant in a 
complaint originally filed September 13, 2006 in the Chancery Court for the State of Tennessee Twentieth 
 Judicial District at Nashville styled Indiana State District Council of Laborers and Hod Carriers Pension Fund 
v. Gary Brukardt et al. Following the trial court’s dismissal of the complaint, plaintiff’s appeal in part, and 
reversal in part by the appellate court, the cause of action purports to be a class action on behalf of former 
shareholders of RCG and seeks monetary damages only against the individual former directors of RCG. The 
individual defendants, however, may have had claims for indemnification and reimbursement of expenses 
against the Company. On January 11, 2013, the period for objection to a settlement agreed to by plaintiff 
 expired. This settlement calls for dismissal of the complaint with prejudice against the plaintiff and all other 
class members in exchange for a payment that is not material to the Company. The settlement has been 
funded and distribution is being overseen by the Nashville Chancery Court.

On February 15, 2011, a qui tam relator’s complaint under the False Claims Act against FMCH was unsealed by 
order of the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts and served by the relator. The 
United States has not intervened in the case United States ex rel. Chris Drennen v. Fresenius Medical Care 
Holdings, Inc., 2009 Civ. 10179 (D. Mass.). The relator’s complaint, which was first filed under seal in 
 February 2009, alleges that the Company seeks and receives reimbursement from government payors for 
 serum ferritin and hepatitis B laboratory tests that are medically unnecessary or not properly ordered by a 
physician. On March 6, 2011, the United States Attorney for the District of Massachusetts issued a Civil Inves-
tigative Demand seeking the production of documents related to the same laboratory tests that are the 
 subject of the relator’s complaint. FMCH has cooperated fully in responding to the Civil Investigative Demand, 
and will vigorously contest the relator’s complaint.

On June 29, 2011, FMCH received a subpoena from the United States Attorney for the Eastern District of New 
York (E. D. N. Y.). On December 6, 2011, a single Company facility in New York received a subpoena from the 
Office of the Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services that was substantially simi-
lar to the one issued by the U. S. Attorney for the E. D. N. Y. These subpoenas are part of a criminal and civil 
investigation into relationships between retail pharmacies and outpatient dialysis facilities in the State of New 
York and into the reimbursement under government payor programs in New York for medications provided 
to patients with ESRD. Among the issues encompassed by the investigation is whether retail pharmacies may 
have provided or received compensation from the New York Medicaid program for pharmaceutical products 
that should be provided by the dialysis facilities in exchange for the New York Medicaid payment to the dial-
ysis facilities. The Company has cooperated in the investigation. 

Civil investigative demands were issued under the supervision of the United States Attorneys for Rhode Island 
and Connecticut to American Access Care LLC (AAC) and certain affiliated entities prior to the Company’s 
 acquisition of AAC in October 2011. In March 2012, a third subpoena was issued under the supervision of the 
United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida (Miami). The subpoenas cover a wide range of 
documents and activities of AAC, but appear to focus on coding and billing practices and procedures. The 
Company has assumed responsibility for responding to the subpoenas and is cooperating fully with the 
United States Attorneys.

The Company has received communications alleging certain conduct in certain countries outside the U. S. and 
Germany that may violate the U. S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) or other anti-bribery laws. In response 
to the allegations, the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company’s Supervisory Board is 
conducting an internal review with the assistance of independent counsel retained for such purpose. The 
Company voluntarily advised the U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission and the U. S. Department of Justice 
that allegations have been made and of the Company’s internal review. The Company’s independent counsel, 
in conjunction with the Company’s Compliance department, have reviewed the Company’s anti-corruption 
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compliance program, including internal controls related to compliance with international anti-bribery laws, 
and appropriate enhancements are being implemented. The Company is fully committed to FCPA compliance. 
It cannot predict the final outcome of its review.

In December 2012 and January 2013, FMCH received subpoenas from the United States Attorneys for the  District 
of Massachusetts and the Western District of Louisiana requesting production of a range of documents relat-
ing to products manufactured by FMCH, including the Granuflo® and Naturalyte® dialysate concentrate 
 products. FMCH intends to cooperate fully in these matters.

The Company filed claims for refunds contesting the Internal Revenue Service’s (IRS) disallowance of FMCH’s 
civil settlement payment deductions taken by FMCH in prior year tax returns. As a result of a settlement agree-
ment with the IRS, the Company received a partial refund in September 2008 of $ 37,000, inclusive of interest 
and preserved its right to pursue claims in the United States Courts for refunds of all other disallowed deduc-
tions, which totaled approximately $ 126,000. On December 22, 2008, the Company filed a complaint for com-
plete refund in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts, styled as Fresenius Medical 
Care Holdings, Inc. v. United States. On August 15, 2012, a jury entered a verdict for FMCH granting additional 
deductions of $ 95,000. The District Court has denied post trial motions by the IRS to set aside the verdict and 
the IRS has affirmed that a final District Court judgment in the amount of approximately $ 50,000 should be 
entered in favor of FMCH to reflect the cash value of the additional tax deductions granted in the verdict. The 
IRS will have rights of appeal when the final judgment is entered.

From time to time, the Company is a party to or may be threatened with other litigation or arbitration, claims 
or assessments arising in the ordinary course of its business. Management regularly analyzes current informa-
tion including, as applicable, the Company’s defenses and insurance coverage and, as necessary, provides 
accruals for probable liabilities for the eventual disposition of these matters. 

The Company, like other healthcare providers, conducts its operations under intense government regulation 
and scrutiny. It must comply with regulations which relate to or govern the safety and efficacy of medical 
products and supplies, the marketing and distribution of such products, the operation of manufacturing 
 facilities, laboratories and dialysis clinics, and environmental and occupational health and safety. With respect 
to its development, manufacture, marketing and distribution of medical products, if such compliance is not 
maintained, the Company could be subject to significant adverse regulatory actions by the FDA and compara-
ble regulatory authorities outside the U. S. These regulatory actions could include warning letters or other 
enforcement notices from the FDA and / or comparable foreign regulatory authority, which may require the 
Company to expend significant time and resources in order to implement appropriate corrective actions. If 
warning letters or other enforcement notices are not addressed by the Company to the satisfaction of the FDA 
and / or comparable regulatory authorities outside the U. S., these regulatory authorities could take additional 
actions, including product recalls injunctions against the distribution of products or operation of manufactur-
ing plants, civil penalties, seizures of the Company’s products and / or criminal prosecution. The Company must 
also comply with the laws of the United States, including the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal False 
Claims Act, the federal Stark Law and the federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act as well as other federal and 
state fraud and abuse laws. Applicable laws or regulations may be amended, or enforcement agencies or 
courts may make interpretations that differ from the Company’s interpretations or the manner in which it 
conducts its business. Enforcement has become a high priority for the federal government and some states. 
In addition, the provisions of the False Claims Act authorizing payment of a portion of any recovery to the 
party bringing the suit encourage private plaintiffs to commence “qui tam” or “whistle blower” actions. In 
May 2009, the scope of the False Claims Act was expanded and additional protections for whistle blowers and 
procedural provisions to aid whistle blowers’ ability to proceed in a False Claims Act case were added. By 
virtue of this regulatory environment, the Company’s business activities and practices are subject to extensive 
review by regulatory authorities and private parties, and continuing audits, investigative demands, subpoenas, 
other inquiries, claims and litigation relating to the Company’s compliance with applicable laws and regula-
tions. The Company may not always be aware that an inquiry or action has begun, particularly in the case of 

“whistle blower” actions, which are initially filed under court seal.
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The Company operates many facilities throughout the United States and other parts of the world. In such a 
decentralized system, it is often difficult to maintain the desired level of oversight and control over the 
 thousands of individuals employed by many affiliated companies. The Company relies upon its management 
structure, regulatory and legal resources, and the effective operation of its compliance program to direct, 
manage and monitor the activities of these employees. On occasion, the Company may identify instances 
where employees or other agents deliberately, recklessly or inadvertently contravene the Company’s policies 
or violate applicable law. The actions of such persons may subject the Company and its subsidiaries to liability 
under the Anti-Kickback Statute, the Stark Law, the False Claims Act and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, 
among other laws and comparable laws of other countries.

Physicians, hospitals and other participants in the healthcare industry are also subject to a large number of 
lawsuits alleging professional negligence, malpractice, product liability, worker’s compensation or related 
claims, many of which involve large claims and significant defense costs. The Company has been and is cur-
rently subject to these suits due to the nature of its business and expects that those types of lawsuits may 
continue. Although the Company maintains insurance at a level which it believes to be prudent, it cannot 
assure that the coverage limits will be adequate or that insurance will cover all asserted claims. A successful 
claim against the Company or any of its subsidiaries in excess of insurance coverage could have a material 
adverse effect upon it and the results of its operations. Any claims, regardless of their merit or eventual out-
come, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s reputation and business.

The Company has also had claims asserted against it and has had lawsuits filed against it relating to alleged 
patent infringements or businesses that it has acquired or divested. These claims and suits relate both to 
operation of the businesses and to the acquisition and divestiture transactions. The Company has, when 
 appropriate, asserted its own claims, and claims for indemnification. A successful claim against the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries could have a material adverse effect upon its business, financial condition, and the 
results of its operations. Any claims, regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s reputation and business.
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12. Financial instruments 
As a global supplier of dialysis services and products in more than 120 countries throughout the world, the 
Company is faced with a concentration of credit risks due to the nature of the reimbursement systems which 
are often provided by the governments of the countries in which the Company operates. Changes in 
reimburse ment rates or the scope of coverage could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s busi-
ness, financial condition and results of operations and thus on its capacity to generate cash flow.

Non-derivative financial instruments 
The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s non-derivative financial 
instruments at March 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012.

March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

 Fair value  
hierarchy

Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1 534,841 534,841 688,040 688,040

Accounts receivable 2 3,174,247 3,174,247 3,157,233 3,157,233

liabilities

Accounts payable 2 625,278 625,278 745,644 745,644

Short-term borrowings 2 127,196 127,196 121,823 121,823

Long term debt, excluding 2012 Credit 
 Agreement, Euro Notes and Senior Notes 2 548,273 548,273 721,928 721,928

2012 Credit Agreement 2 2,631,038 2,626,228 2,659,340 2,652,840

Senior Notes 2 4,694,106 5,281,712 4,743,442 5,296,325

Euro Notes 2 50,420 52,267 51,951 54,574

Noncontrolling interests subject to put 
 provisions 3 551,402 551,402 523,260 523,260

The carrying amounts in the table are included in the consolidated balance sheet under the indicated captions 
or in the case of long-term debt, in the captions shown in Note 6.

The significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of non-derivative financial instru-
ments are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value which equals the fair value.

Short-term financial instruments such as accounts receivable, accounts payable and short-term borrowings 
are valued at their carrying amounts, which are reasonable estimates of the fair value due to the relatively 
short period to maturity of these instruments.

The fair values of major long-term financial liabilities are calculated on the basis of market information. Instru-
ments for which market quotes are available are measured using these quotes. The fair values of the other 
long-term financial liabilities are calculated at the present value of the respective future cash flows. To deter-
mine these present values, the prevailing interest rates and credit spreads for the Company as of the balance 
sheet date are used.

t.  2 4 Non-derivatives
in $ THOUS
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The valuation of noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions is determined using significant unobserv-
able inputs. See Note 9 for a discussion of the Company’s methodology for estimating the fair value of these 
noncontrolling interests subject to put obligations.

Currently, there is no indication that a decrease in the value of the Company’s financing receivables is  probable. 
Therefore, the allowances on credit losses of financing receivables are immaterial.

Derivative financial instruments 
The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. In order to 
manage the risk of currency exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations, the Company enters into various 
hedging transactions by means of derivative instruments with highly rated financial institutions as authorized 
by the Company’s General Partner. On a quarterly basis the Company performs an assessment of its counter-
party credit risk. The Company currently considers this risk to be low. The Company’s policy, which has been 
consistently followed, is that financial derivatives be used only for the purpose of hedging foreign currency 
and interest rate exposure.

In certain instances, the Company enters into derivative contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
but are utilized for economic purposes (economic hedges). The Company does not use financial instruments 
for trading purposes.

The Company established guidelines for risk assessment procedures and controls for the use of financial 
instru ments. They include a clear segregation of duties with regard to execution on one side and administra-
tion, accounting and controlling on the other.

To reduce the credit risk arising from derivatives the Company concluded master netting agreements with 
banks. Through such agreements, positive and negative fair values of the derivative contracts could be offset 
against one another if a partner becomes insolvent. This offsetting is valid for transactions where the aggre-
gate amount of obligations owed to and receivable from are not equal. If insolvency occurs, the party which 
owes the larger amount is obliged to pay the other party the difference between the amounts owed in the 
form of one net payment.

The Company elects not to offset the fair values of derivative financial instruments subject to master netting 
agreements in the statement of financial position.

At March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Company had $ 38,161 and $ 32,044 of derivative financial assets 
subject to netting arrangements and $ 21,779 and $ 19,193 of derivative financial liabilities subject to netting 
arrangements. Offsetting these derivative financial instruments would have resulted in net assets of $ 28,868 
and $ 20,773 as well as net liabilities of $ 12,486 and $ 7,922 at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Foreign exchange risk management 
The Company conducts business on a global basis in various currencies, though a majority of its operations 
are in Germany and the United States. For financial reporting purposes, the Company has chosen the U. S. 
dollar as its reporting currency. Therefore, changes in the rate of exchange between the U. S. dollar and the 
local currencies in which the financial statements of the Company’s international operations are maintained 
affect its results of operations and financial position as reported in its consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in foreign exchange rates relates to transactions such as 
sales and purchases. The Company has significant amounts of sales of products invoiced in euro from its 
 European manufacturing facilities to its other international operations and, to a lesser extent, sales of prod-
ucts invoiced in other non-functional currencies. This exposes the subsidiaries to fluctuations in the rate of 
exchange between the euro and the currency in which their local operations are conducted. For the purpose 
of hedging existing and foreseeable foreign exchange transaction exposures the Company enters into foreign 
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exchange forward contracts and, on a small scale, foreign exchange options. At March 31, 2013 the Company 
had no foreign exchange options.

Changes in the fair value of the effective portion of foreign exchange forward contracts designated and qual-
ifying as cash flow hedges of forecasted product purchases and sales are reported in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI). Additionally, in connection with intercompany loans in foreign currency, 
the Company uses foreign exchange swaps thus assuring that no foreign exchange risks arise from those 
loans, which, if they qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, are also reported in AOCI. These amounts 
 recorded in AOCI are subsequently reclassified into earnings as a component of cost of revenues for those 
contracts that hedge product purchases or as an adjustment of interest income/expense for those contracts 
that hedge loans, in the same period in which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The notional amounts 
of foreign exchange contracts in place that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges totaled $ 394,190 
and $ 611,488 at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

The Company also enters into derivative contracts for forecasted product purchases and sales and for inter-
company loans in foreign currencies that do not qualify for hedge accounting but are utilized for economic 
hedges as defined above. In these cases, the change in value of the economic hedge is recorded in the 
 income statement and usually offsets the change in value recorded in the income statement for the under-
lying asset or liability. The notional amounts of economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
totaled $ 1,210,841 and $ 1,574,667 at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Interest rate risk management 
The Company enters into derivatives, particularly interest rate swaps and to a certain extent, interest rate 
options, to protect against the risk of rising interest rates. These interest rate derivatives are designated as 
cash flow hedges and have been entered into in order to effectively convert payments based on variable 
 interest rates into payments at a fixed interest rate. The euro-denominated interest rate swaps expire in 2016 
and have an interest rate of 1.73 %. Interest payable and receivable under the swap agreements is accrued and 
recorded as an adjustment to interest expense.

At March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the notional amount of the euro-denominated interest rate swaps 
in place was €100,000 and €100,000 ($ 128,050 and $ 131,940 at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,  respectively).
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Derivative financial instruments valuation 
The following table shows the carrying amounts of the Company’s derivatives at March 31, 2013 and Decem-
ber 31, 2012.

March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

 Assets 2 Liabilities 2 Assets 2 Liabilities 2

derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships 1

Current

Foreign exchange contracts 6,180 (6,251) 7,839 (7,510)

Non-current

Foreign exchange contracts 71 – 942 (187)

Interest rate contracts – (5,244) – (6,221)

 Total 6,251 (11,495) 8,781 (13,918)

derivatives not designated as hedging instruments 1

Current

Foreign exchange contracts 37,150 (11,956) 23,396 (19,068)

Non-current

Foreign exchange contracts 567 (1,529) 132 (292)

 Total 37,717 (13,485) 23,528 (19,360)

1  As of March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the valuation of the Company’s derivatives was determined using significant other observable inputs ( level 2 )  
in accordance with the fair value hierarchy levels established in U. S. GAAP.

2  Derivative instruments are marked to market each reporting period resulting in carrying amounts being equal to fair values at the reporting date.

The carrying amounts for the current portion of derivatives indicated as assets in the table above are included 
in Prepaid expenses and other current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets while the current portion of 
those indicated as liabilities are included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities. The non-current 
portions indicated as assets or liabilities are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in Other assets or 
Other liabilities, respectively.

The significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of derivative financial instruments 
are as follows:

The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated by discounting the future cash flows on the basis of the mar-
ket interest rates applicable for the remaining term of the contract at the balance sheet date. To determine the 
fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts, the contracted forward rate is compared to the current for-
ward rate for the remaining term of the contract at the balance sheet date. The result is then  discounted on 
the basis of the market interest rates prevailing at the balance sheet date for the applicable currency.

The Company includes its own credit risk for financial instruments deemed liabilities and counterparty-credit 
risks for financial instruments deemed assets when measuring the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

t.  2 5 Derivatives
in $ THOUS
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Amount of gain or (loss)  
recognized in OCI on derivatives   

(effective portion) for the  
three months ended March 31,

Location of 
(gain) or loss 

reclassified 
from AOCI in 

 income (effec-
tive  portion)

Amount of (gain) or loss  
reclassified from AOCI in income 

(effective portion) for the  
three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012 2013 2012

derivatives in cash flow hedging  
relationships

Interest rate contracts 6,470 (15,797)

Interest 
income /  
expense 6,365 4,898

Foreign exchange contracts 3,991 8,865
Costs of 
revenue (1,345) (2,990)

Foreign exchange contracts

Interest 
income /  
expense 416 741

 Total 10,461 (6,932) 5,436 2,649

Location of (gain) or loss  
recognized in income  

on derivative

Amount of (gain) or loss  
recognized in income  

on derivatives for the three months 
ended March 31,

 2013 2012

derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Foreign exchange contracts
Selling, general and  

administrative  expense (21,808) 13,759

Foreign exchange contracts Interest income / expense 1,966 5,229

 Total (19,842) 18,988

For foreign exchange derivatives, the Company expects to recognize $ 4,109 of losses deferred in AOCI at 
March 31, 2013, in earnings during the next twelve months.

The Company expects to incur additional interest expense of $ 20,276 over the next twelve months which is 
currently deferred in AOCI. At March 31, 2013, this amount reflects the projected amortization of the settle-
ment amount of the terminated swaps and the current fair value of the additional interest payments resulting 
from the remaining interest rate swap maturing in 2016.

At March 31, 2013, the Company had foreign exchange derivatives with maturities of up to 32 months and 
interest rate swaps with maturities of up to 43 months.

t.  2 6 The effect of derivatives on the Consolidated Financial Statements
in $ THOUS

t.  2 7 The effect of derivatives on the Consolidated Financial Statements
in $ THOUS
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13. Other comprehensive income ( loss)
Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component for the three months ended 
March 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

Gain (Loss) 
related  

to cash flow 
hedges

Actuarial 
gain (loss) 
on defined 

benefit 
 pension 

plans

Gain (loss) 
related to 

foreign- 
currency 

translation

Total, 
 before non- 
controlling 

interests 

Non- 
controlling  

interests Total

 Balance December 31, 2011 (136,221) (111,215) (238,331) (485,767) 3,048  (482,719)

  Other comprehensive income (loss)  
before  reclassifications (24,536) – 119,955  95,419  841  96,260 

  Amounts reclassified from accumulated  
other comprehensive income (loss) 1 2,986  2,659  – 5,645  – 5,645 

Other comprehensive income (loss)  
after  reclassifications (21,550) 2,659  119,955  101,064  841  101,905 

 Balance March 31, 2012 (157,771) (108,556) (118,376) (384,703) 3,889  (380,814)

 Balance December 31, 2012 (138,341) (179,423) (174,349) (492,113) 2,869  (489,244)

  Other comprehensive income (loss)  
before  reclassifications 8,031  – (66,206) (58,175) (1,982) (60,157)

  Amounts reclassified from accumulated  
other comprehensive income (loss) 1 3,639  3,937  – 7,576  – 7,576 

Other comprehensive income (loss)  
after  reclassifications  11,670   3,937  (66,206) (50,599) (1,982) (52,581)

 Balance March 31, 2013 (126,671) (175,486) (240,555) (542,712) 887  (541,825)

1 See separate table below for details about these reclassifications.

t.  2 8 Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income ( loss )by component
 in $ THOUS 
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Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the three months ended March 31, 
2013 and 2012 are as follows:

details about accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  
(“AOCI”) components

Amount of (gain) loss 
 reclassified from AOCI  

in income

Location of (gain) loss 
 reclassified from AOCI  

in income

Three months ended  
March 31,

2013 2012

(gain) loss related to cash flow hedges

 Interest rate contracts 6,365 4,898 Interest income / expense

 Foreign exchange contracts (1,345) (2,990) Costs of revenue

 Foreign exchange contracts 416 741 Interest income / expense

5,436 2,649 total before tax

(1,797) 337 Tax expense or benefit

3,639 2,986 net of tax

actuarial (gain) loss on defined benefit pension plans 

 Amortization of unrealized (gain)  loss 6,392 4,373 1

6,392 4,373 total before tax

(2,455) (1,714) Tax expense or benefit

3,937 2,659 net of tax

 Total reclassifications for the period 7,576 5,645 net of tax

1 Included in the computation of net periodic pension cost ( see Note 8 for additional details ).

14. Business segment and corporate information 
The Company has identified three operating segments, the North America Segment, the International oper-
ating segment, and the Asia Pacific operating segment, which were determined based upon how the Com-
pany manages its businesses. All segments are primarily engaged in providing dialysis care services and the 
distribution of products and equipment for the treatment of ESRD. The Company has aggregated the Inter-
national and Asia Pacific operating segments as the “International Segment.” The segments are aggregated 
due to their similar economic characteristics. These characteristics include same services provided and same 
products sold, the same type patient population, similar methods of distribution of products and services and 
similar economic environments. The General Partner’s management board member responsible for the prof-
itability and cash flow of each segment’s various businesses supervises the management of each operating 
segment. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those the Company applies in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements under accounting principles generally accepted in the U. S. (U. S. GAAP).

Management evaluates each segment using a measure that reflects all of the segment’s controllable revenues 
and expenses. With respect to the performance of business operations, management believes that the most 
appropriate measure in this regard is operating income which measures the Company’s source of earnings. 
The Company does not include the investment gain resulting from the 2012 Liberty Acquisition nor income 
taxes as it believes these items to be outside the segments’ control. Financing is a corporate function, which 
the Company’s segments do not control. Therefore, the Company does not include interest expense relating 
to financing as a segment measurement. Similarly, the Company does not allocate “corporate costs,” which 
relate primarily to certain headquarters overhead charges, including accounting and finance, professional 
services, etc., because the Company believes that these costs are also not within the control of the individual 
segments. Production of products, production asset management, quality management and procurement are 

t.  2 9 Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
 in $ THOUS 
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centrally managed in Corporate by Global Manufacturing Operations. These corporate activities do not fulfill 
the definition of a segment. Products are transferred to the segments at cost; therefore no internal profit is 
generated. The associated internal revenues for the product transfers and their elimination are recorded as 
corporate activities. Capital expenditures for production are based on the expected demand of the segments 
and consolidated profitability considerations. In addition, certain revenues, investments and intangible assets, 
as well as any related expenses, are not allocated to a segment but are accounted for as “Corporate”.

Information pertaining to the Company’s segments and its Corporate activities for the three-months periods 
ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 is set forth below. 

 
North America Inter national

Segment  
Total Corporate Total

three months ended march 31, 2013

Net revenue external customers 2,287,250 1,168,652 3,455,902 8,019 3,463,921

Inter-segment revenue 1,075 – 1,075 (1,075) –

 Net revenue 2,288,325 1,168,652 3,456,977 6,944 3,463,921

Depreciation and amortization (80,160) (45,253) (125,413) (30,940) (156,353)

 Operating income 368,853 183,807 552,660 (59,347) 493,313

Income (loss) from equity method investees 4,289 915 5,204 (396) 4,808

Segment assets 14,044,466 5,896,442 19,940,908 2,198,755 22,139,663

thereof investments in equity method 
 investees 239,689 361,738 601,427 – 601,427

Capital expenditures, acquisitions and 
 investments 1 112,332 82,702 195,034 24,537 219,571

three months ended march 31, 2012

Net revenue external customers 2,104,584 1,136,090 3,240,674 8,081 3,248,755

Inter-segment revenue 3,452 – 3,452 (3,452) –

 Net revenue 2,108,036 1,136,090 3,244,126 4,629 3,248,755

Depreciation and amortization (72,016) (42,927) (114,943) (28,431) (143,374)

 Operating income 347,833 194,912 542,745 (39,779) 502,966

Income (loss) from equity method investees 2,982 67 3,049 2,448 5,497

Segment assets 13,974,231 5,889,591 19,863,822 2,124,166 21,987,988

thereof investments in equity method 
 investees 254,408 381,567 635,975 1,780 637,755

Capital expenditures, acquisitions and 
 investments 2 1,760,581 38,886 1,799,467 27,753 1,827,220

1  International acquisitions exclude $ 3,690 of non-cash acquisitions for 2013.
2  North America acquisitions exclude $ 468,793 of non-cash acquisitions and International acquisitions exclude $ 652 of non-cash acquisitions for 2012.

t.  3 0 Business segment information
in $ THOUS
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15. Supplementary cash flow information 
The following additional information is provided with respect to the consolidated statements of cash flows:

Three months ended March 31,

 2013 2012

supplementary cash flow information

Cash paid for interest 165,596 124,210

Cash paid for income taxes 1 59,708 12,875

Cash inflow for income taxes from stock option exercises 522 583

supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Details for acquisitions:

Assets acquired (69,485) (2,345,375)

Liabilities assumed 3,334 299,947

Noncontrolling interest subject to put provisions 6,294 53,900

Noncontrolling interest 4,527 130,000

Obligations assumed in connection with acquisition 3,690 652

 Cash paid (51,640) (1,860,876)

Less cash acquired 2,530 159,277

 Net cash paid for acquisitions (49,110) (1,701,599)

Cash paid for investments (22,185) –

Cash paid for intangible assets (919) (1,203)

 Total cash paid for acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired, and purchases 
of intangible assets (72,214) (1,702,802)

1 Net of tax refund.

Events Occuring  
after the Balance Sheet Date

At the Annual General Meeting in Frankfurt on May 16, 2013 the Company’s shareholders approved the sim-
plification of its capital structure. With a large majority of 99.97 % the shareholders approved the mandatory 
conversion of preference shares into ordinary shares on a 1:1 basis, as recommended by the Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board. A separate meeting of preference shareholders also approved the proposal, 
with a 99.99 % majority. Preference shares currently represent about 1.3 % of the company’s total share capital.

No other significant activities have taken place since the balance sheet date March 31, 2012 which have a 
material impact in any way on the key figures presented and business earnings. Currently, no significant 
changes are intended for the structure, management or legal form of the Company and its personnel.

t.  31 Supplementary cash flow information
in $ THOUS
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Corporate Governance
The personally liable shareholder, represented by the Managing Board of Fresenius Medical Care Manage-
ment AG, and the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & CO. KGAA have issued a compliance declaration pursuant to 
161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The Company has frequently made this declaration available 
to the public by pushing it on its website: www.fmc-ag.com.
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